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Alkane Delivers Profit After Tax of A$23.3 Million for FY2019 

Alkane Resources Ltd results for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 are attached. 

The table below is a summary of the financial results: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The profit was largely driven by excellent production and cost performance at the Tomingley 
Gold Operation where full year guidance was met with 48,969 ounces of gold produced at an all 
in sustaining cost (AISC) of A$947 per ounce. 

As at 30 June 2019 the company’s cash, bullion and listed investments totalled A$80.8 million, 
with A$69.6 million in cash, bullion on hand at fair value of A$3.4 million and A$7.8 million of 
listed investments at market value. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CONTACT : NIC EARNER, MANAGING DIRECTOR, ALKANE RESOURCES LTD, TEL +61 8 9227 5677 

INVESTORS : NATALIE CHAPMAN, CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS MANAGER, TEL +61 418 642 556 

MEDIA : HILL+KNOWLTON STRATEGIES: MARCHA VAN DEN HEUVEL, TEL +61 2 9286 1226 OR +61 468 960 457 

 
Ground Floor, 89 Burswood Road, Burswood WA 6100, AUSTRALIA (PO Box 4384, Victoria Park WA 6979, AUSTRALIA) 

Telephone: +61 8 9227 5677 Facsimile: +61 8 9227 8178 www.alkane.com.au mail@alkane.com.au 

 2019 
(A$’000) 

2018 
(A$’000) 

Change 
(A$’000) 

Change 
% 

Gold revenue 93,994 129,974 (35,980) (28%) 

Gold production (ounces) 48,969 78,533 (29,564) (38%) 

Gold sales (ounces) 52,068 75,507 (23,439) (31%) 

Sale price ($/oz) 1,777 1,706 71 4% 

TGO profit before tax 31,930 38,591 (6,661) (17%) 

Company profit before tax 25,632 31,316 (5,684) (18%) 

Company profit after tax 23,293 24,471 (1,178) (5%) 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the 
'consolidated entity' or the 'group') consisting of Alkane Resources Ltd (referred to hereafter as the 'company' or 'parent entity') and 
the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2019. 
  

Directors and company secretary 
The following persons were directors of Alkane Resources Ltd during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report, 
unless otherwise stated: 
  

I J Gandel 
N P Earner  
D I Chalmers 
A D Lethlean 
G M Smith  
  
The Board continues its efforts to seek to appoint additional independent members who will bring complimentary skill sets and diversity 
to the group's leadership. 
  

Information on directors 
Ian Jeffrey Gandel - Non-Executive Chairman 
LLB, BEc, FCPA, FAICD 
  

Appointed Director 24 July 2006 and Chairman 1 September 2017 
  

Mr Gandel is a successful Melbourne based businessman with extensive experience in retail management and retail property. He has 
been a director of the Gandel Retail Trust and has had an involvement in the construction and leasing of Gandel shopping centres. He 
has previously been involved in the Priceline retail chain and the CEO chain of serviced offices. 
 
Mr Gandel has been an investor in the mining industry since 1994. Mr Gandel is currently a substantial holder in a number of publicly 
listed Australian companies and, through his private investment vehicles, now holds and explores tenements in his own right in Western 
Australia. Mr Gandel is currently non-executive chairman of Alliance Resources Ltd (appointed as a director on 15 October 2003 and in 
June 2016 was appointed non-executive chairman). He is also Non-Executive chairman of Octagonal Resources Ltd (appointed 10 
November 2010)(this company sought delisting from the ASX in February 2016 and converted to Pty Ltd status in April 2016). 
 
Mr Gandel is a member of the Audit Committee and Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committees. 
  

Nicolas Paul Earner - Managing Director 
BEng (hons) 
  

Appointed Managing Director 1 September 2017 
  

Mr Earner is a chemical engineer and a graduate of the University of Queensland with 25 years’ experience in technical and operational 
optimisation and management, and has held a number of executive roles in mining and processing 
  

Mr Earner joined the Alkane Group as Chief Operations Officer in August 2013 with responsibility for the safe and efficient management 
of the company's operations at Tomingley Gold Operations (TGO) and Dubbo (Dubbo Project). Under his supervision, the successful 
development of TGO transitioned to profitable and efficient operations. His guidance also drives the engineering and metallurgical 
aspects of the Dubbo Project, overseeing optimisation of plant design and product and marketing development. 
  

 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Alkane Resources Ltd 
Directors' report 
30 June 2019 
 

  

  
4 

Information on directors (continued) 
Nicolas Paul Earner - Managing Director (continued) 
 
Prior to his appointment as the group's Chief Operations Officer in August 2013 he spent four years at Straits Resources Ltd including 
two years as Executive General Manager - Operations, supervising up to 1,000 employees in open cut and underground gold mines and 
an underground copper mine. During the eleven years before that he had various roles at Rio Tinto Coal Australia's Mount Thorley 
Warkworth coal mine and BHP/WMC Olympic Dam cooper-uranium-gold operations. His eight years at Olympic Dam included roles 
managing the Concentrator and Hyrdomet functions which included substantial milling, leaching and solvent extraction circuits. His 
other positions included production Superintendent - Smelting and Senior Engineer - Process Control, Instrumentation and 
Communications. 
  
David Ian Chalmers - Technical Director 
MSc, FAusIMM, FAIG, FIMM, FSEG, MSGA, MGSA, FAICD 
  

Appointed Technical Director 1 September 2017. Resigned as Managing Director 31 August 2017. 
  

After almost 11 years as Managing Director Mr Chalmers stepped down to make way for the appointment of Mr Earner in his place. Mr 
Chalmers continues on the Board to provide ongoing technical and commercial knowledge and support for the Dubbo Project and 
exploration activities. 
 
Mr Chalmers is a geologist and graduate of the Western Australia Institute of Technology (Curtin University) and has a Master of Science 
degree from the University of Leicester in the United Kingdom. He has worked in the mining and exploration industry for over 40 years, 
and has gained experience in all facets of exploration and mining through feasibility and development to the production phase. Mr 
Chalmers was Technical Director until his appointment as Managing Director in 2006, overseeing the group's minerals exploration 
efforts across Australia (New South Wales and Western Australia), Indonesia and New Zealand and the development and operations of 
the Peak Hill Gold Mine (NSW). During his time as chief executive he steered the company through construction and development of 
the now fully operational Tomingley Gold Operations and to the threshold of development of the world class Dubbo Project.  
 
Mr Chalmers is a member of the Nomination Committee. 
  
Anthony Dean Lethlean - Non-Executive Director 
BAppSc (Geology) 
  

Appointed Director 30 May 2002 
  

Mr Lethlean is a geologist with over 10 years mining experience including 4 years underground on the Golden Mile in Kalgoorlie. In later 
years, he has worked as a resource analyst with various stockbrokers and investment banks including CIBC World Markets. He was a 
founding director of Helmsec Global Capital Limited which seeded, listed and funded a number of companies in a range of commodities. 
He retired from the group in 2014. He is also a non-executive director of Alliance Resources Ltd (appointed 15 October 2003). 
 
Mr Lethlean is the senior independent Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committees. 
  

Gavin Murray Smith - Non-Executive Director 
B.Com, MBA, MAICD 
  
Appointed Director 29 November 2017 
  

Mr Smith is an accomplished senior executive and non-executive director within multinational business environments. He has more 
than 35 years’ experience in Information Technology, Business Development, and General Management in a wide range of industries 
and sectors. Mr Smith has worked for the Bosch group for the past 29 years in Australia and Germany and is current Chair and President 
of Robert Bosch Australia. In this role Mr Smith has led the restructuring and transformation of the local Bosch subsidiary. Concurrent 
with this role, he is a non-executive director of the various Bosch subsidiaries, joint ventures, and direct investment companies in 
Australia and New Zealand. In addition, Mr Smith is the Chair of the Internet of Things Alliance Australia (IoTAA), the peak body for 
organisations with an interest in the IoT. 
 

Mr Smith is a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration and Nomination Committees. 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Alkane Resources Ltd 
Directors' report 
30 June 2019 
 

  

  
5 

Information on directors (continued)  
 
Dennis Wilkins - Company secretary 
B.Bus, ACIS, AICD 
  

Appointed company secretary 29 March 2018 
  
Prior to joining Alkane Resources Ltd, Mr Wilkins has been a director, or involved in executive management of, several publicly listed 
resource companies with operations in Australia, PNG, Scandinavia and Africa. 
  

Principal activities 
During the financial year the principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity consisted of: 
●  mining operations at the Tomingley Gold Operation; 
●  evaluation activities in relation to the Dubbo project; 
●  exploration and evaluation activities on tenements held by the group; and 
●  pursuing strategic investments in gold exploration companies. 
  

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
  

Result for the year 
The profit for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $23,293,000 (30 June 2018: $24,471,000). 
  

This result included a profit before tax of $31,930,000 (30 June 2018: $38,591,000) in relation to Tomingley Gold Operations. 
  

Review of Operations 

Tomingley Gold Operations ('TGO') 
The gold operations at Tomingley are located approximately 50 kilometres south-west of Dubbo in the Central West of NSW. The 
operations are based on four gold deposits. Wyoming One, Wyoming Three (mining completed October 2015), Caloma One (mining 
completed August 2017) and Caloma Two. Mining occurred in two pits during the year, Wyoming One (mining completed in December 
2018) and Caloma Two (mining completed January 2019). Underground development commenced from Wyoming One pit during the 
period.  
  

Total material movements for the period of 804,016 bcm comprised 657,648 bcm of waste and 146,368 bcm of ore. The average 
stripping ratio of 4.5 represented a decrease from the corresponding period as a result of overburden having been previously removed 
from the main operating pits Wyoming One and Caloma Two. 
  

Milling for the period was in line with design capacity at 998,702 tonnes. Gold recovery of 91.7% for the year was in line with 
expectations and consistent with recovery from the prior year ended 30 June 2018 of 91.9% as operations continued to benefit from 
the increased oxide ore available for processing from the Wyoming One and Caloma Two pits. Average grade milled declined to 1.66g/t 
in the current year as a result of processing both medium and low grade stockpiles as the operation transitions from open cut to 
underground. 
  
Production for the period was 48,969 ounces of gold (2018: 78,533 ounces of gold) with all in sustaining costs of $947 per ounce (2018: 
$1,002 per ounce). The average sales price achieved for the period increased to $1,777 per ounce compared to $1,706 in the prior year. 
Gold sales of 52,068 ounces (2018: 75,507 ounces) resulted in sales revenue of $92,513,000 (2018: $128,799,000). 
  
Bullion on hand reduced by 3,109 ounces from 30 June 2018 to 1,727 ounces (fair value of $3,467,000 at period end).  
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Tomingley Gold Operations (continued) 
 
The table below summarises the key operational information: 
  

 
  

(1)  All in Sustaining Cost (AISC) comprises all site operating costs, royalties, mine exploration, sustaining capex, mine development 
and an allocation of corporate costs on the basis of ounces produced. AISC does not include share-based payments, production 
incentives or net realisable value provision for product inventory.  

(2)  Based on the resource models.  
(3)  Represents gold poured at site, not adjusted for refining adjustments which results in minor differences between the 

movements in bullion on hand and the difference between production and sales. 
  

Ore over the year was mainly sourced from the Wyoming One and Caloma Two pits. On 24 September 2018, the board approved the 
commencement of underground mining at Tomingley Gold Operations, and mining subsequently finished in the Wyoming One pit in 
December 2018 and Caloma Two pit in January 2019. Underground development from the base of the Wyoming One pit continues and 
is both on schedule and on budget. The operation has continued to process medium and low grade stockpiles for the remainder of the 
financial year. 
 

TGO Production Unit
Sep Quarter

2018

Dec Quarter

2018

Mar Quarter 

2019

Jun Quarter 

2019

FY

2019

FY

2018

Waste mined BCM's       234,281       336,812          86,555                  -         657,648    3,165,414 

Ore mined BCM's         92,615         38,431          15,322                  -         146,368       589,851 

Ore mined Tonnes       258,108       103,488          29,745            8,846       400,187    1,589,811 

Stripping Ratio Ratio                2.5                8.8                 5.6                  -                  4.5                5.4 

Grade mined (2) g/t              1.79              1.67               0.99              1.12              1.68              1.99 

Ore milled Tonnes       240,797       239,687        245,216       273,002       998,702    1,092,602 

Head grade g/t              2.29              1.62               1.57              1.22              1.66              2.42 

Gold recovery %              92.4              93.1               91.7              89.1              91.7              91.9 

Gold poured (3) Ounces         15,634         11,111          10,669         11,555         48,969         78,533 

Revenue summary

Gold sold Ounces            6,656         23,841          10,791         10,780         52,068         75,507 

Average price realised A$/Oz            1,720            1,716             1,841            1,883            1,777            1,706 

Gold revenue A$000's         11,450         40,902          19,867         20,294         92,513       128,799 

Cost Summary

Mining A$/Oz               384               338                175                 71               254               475 

Processing A$/Oz               309               410                464               461               401               236 

Site support A$/Oz                 70                 98                160                 57                 93                 56 

C1 Cash Cost A$/Oz               763               846                799               589               748               767 

Royalties A$/Oz                 49                 47                  50                 52                 49                 52 

Sustaining capital A$/Oz                 23                 72                  11                 69                 42                 32 

Rehabilitation A$/Oz               101                 24                  35                 30                 52               117 

Corporate A$/Oz                 36                 61                  60                 68                 55                 34 

All-in Sustaining Cost (1) A$/Oz               972            1,050                955               808               946            1,002 

Bullion on hand Ounces         13,811            1,077                952            1,727            1,727            4,836 

Stockpiles

Ore for immediate milling Tonnes    1,266,911    1,132,562        915,085       677,029       677,029    1,256,823 

Stockpile grade (2) g/t              0.89              0.83               0.75              0.71              0.71              0.97 

Contained gold Ounces         36,335         29,992          22,077         15,368         15,368         39,338 
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Tomingley Gold Operations (continued) 
 
An extensive exploration program focussed on the immediate area to the south of the Tomingley mine has continued as part of the 
plan to source additional ore feed, either at surface or underground. RC and core drilling was completed across several adjoining 
tenements with subsequent analysis showing significant mineralisation across three tenements. The exploration target has now been 
identified and further resource definition drilling commenced during the period and will continue for approximately the next 10-12 
months. 
   

Dubbo Project 
The Dubbo Project remains ready for construction, subject to financing, with the mineral deposit and surrounding land wholly owned, 
all major State and Federal approvals in place, an established flowsheet and a solid business case. Efforts during the period focussed 
on product development and marketing with potential customers with a focus on establishing offtake contracts. 
  

The continued focus on product development has led to the execution of a binding agreement with Ziron Tech (a South Korean 
company) to fund the final stage of research and feasibility into a clean process for converting metal oxide, including Dubbo Project 
metals, to metals of a highly marketable purity. Several conditions precedent that remained outstanding at 30 June 2019 have now 
been satisfied, and an investment of US$1.2m has been made for the final stage of research which will include construction of a 
commercial scale equipment unit for testing. The new technology should allow the company to bypass traditional supply chains and 
sell products direct to the consumer. 
  

After more than five years of downward pressures, prices for zirconium materials rose rapidly during the previous financial year, with 
Zirconium oxychloride (ZOC) prices increasing by more than 80%. Prices have subsequently remained stable throughout the 2019 
financial year. ZOC is the base product for the downstream zirconium industry. Price increases have historically been driven by reduced 
ZOC supply from China due to Chinese government environmental inspections and subsequent shutdowns to upgrade processing 
facilities to reduce pollution, and restricted supply of zircon. The Dubbo project therefore presents as an attractive option for those 
companies seeking to reduce China’s supply risks.  
  

The higher price and uncertain supply of zircon is expected to give rise to both price volatility and drive ZOC prices up further in financial 
year 2020. Australian Strategic Materials ('ASM') continues to engage with customers looking to convert letters of intent to offtake 
agreements. Offtake discussions have advanced on all Dubbo Project products during the financial year to reduce financial dependence 
on China which supplies approximately 95% of zirconium and 80% of rare earths supply.  
  

Tensions between Japan and South Korea have arisen most recently due to Japan imposing restrictions on three classes of materials 
which are essential to semi-conductor manufacturing and latest generation screens. This issue has highlighted South Korea’s 
vulnerability caused by their reliance on other countries to supply crucial materials to their advanced manufacturing industries, 
particularly considering South Korea’s two leading semi-conductor companies’ account for 60% of the world’s memory chip-making 
capacity. The Dubbo project therefore presents as an attractive option for these companies as they seek to reduce supply risks. 
  

Rare earth permanent magnets (NdFeB - neodymium) continued to be the main driver for the rare earths market during the 2019 
financial year due to the rapid growth in demand for electric vehicles worldwide. Despite some price fluctuation in the March 2019 
quarter, prices for several rare earths including neodymium and praseodymium experienced a resurgence up to June 2019. The 
widespread environmental crackdown across China has also included the rare earths industry, putting illegal mining under the spotlight 
and imposing strict enforcement of the quota system. This crackdown in China is another factor in maintaining strong commodity prices 
for these minerals. 
  

The hafnium market experienced further tightening of supply during the current year, while demand continued to increase for 
traditional and new applications. Hafnium metal for super alloys used in industrial gas turbines and jet engines remains the main market, 
while other applications continue to grow for this niche element.  
  

The niobium market continues to be stable with minimal price fluctuations over the 2019 financial year. Niobium is used by steel 
manufacturers as a substitute for vanadium due to vanadium’s historically high price and limited supply. However, following the 
significant fall in vanadium prices during the second half of the 2019 financial year, demand for niobium has softened causing a relatively 
minor decline in niobium prices.  
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Alkane Resources Ltd 
Directors' report 
30 June 2019 
 

  

Review of operations (continued) 

  
8 

Dubbo Project (continued) 
 
ASM’s foremost objective is the commercialisation of the technology for Dubbo Project products, through exclusive rights to 
commercialise zirconium and hafnium metals both domestically and overseas. The second key objective is to work collaboratively with 
Ziron Tech to commercialise and maintain exclusive rights over the technology for other elements, ultimately creating passive income 
streams through licensing and royalty arrangements. 
  

ASM continues to work with its financial advisors to pursue the funding strategy for the project. The changing market dynamics and 
improved pricing for several key products is expected to assist in discussions with customers to secure long term product offtake and 
investment in the project. The ability of the Dubbo Project to provide long term sustainable security of supply of a diverse range of over 
15 critical metals and oxides is one of the strong themes which is increasingly being recognised both in Australia and overseas. 
  

Exploration 
The company has continued its extensive exploration program focused on securing additional ore feed for the Tomingley Gold 
Operation. Exploration focused on the immediate area to the south of the existing mine to identify potential ore feed resources either 
at surface or underground. The exploration target area has a combined strike length exceeding 2,500 metres comprising the Roswell, 
San Antonio and El Paso prospects with significant mineralisation identified in all three tenements. As potential quantity and grade of 
the exploration target is currently an approximation, the company intends to complete a program of resource drilling over the next 12 
months. Resource definition drilling at the San Antonio and Roswell prospects commenced during the period and is intended to 
comprise over 60,000 metres of predominantly RC drilling.  
  
An additional exploration drilling program has been completed this year as part of the re‐evaluation of the potential for Peak Hill to be 
developed underground to provide additional ore feed for TGO. 
  

The company has also maintained a focussed multi commodity exploration program in the Central West of NSW. 
  

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
On 24 September 2018, the board approved the commencement of underground mining at Tomingley Gold Operations. Underground 
development from the base of the Wyoming One pit continues and is both on schedule and on budget. Open pit mining finished in 
January 2019. 
  

Alkane has pursued a strategic investment into ASX listed gold producer Calidus Resources Ltd (ASX: CAI), and has been involved in 
several strategic placements of Calidus shares during the 2019 financial year in addition to completing multiple on-market purchases. 
  

Alkane did not progress with its proposed investment into gold exploration company Explaurum Limited (ASX: EXU), and a break fee of 
$400,000 was paid to the company. 
  
In December 2018, group commenced entering into gold forward sales contracts in order to hedge a portion of future gold sales. 
Subsequently, the company secured a term hedging facility with Macquarie Bank Limited into which contract positions are rolled. At 
the end of the period the company held the following forward sales contracts: 

 

Quarter Ending Average 
forward price 

$A/oz. 

Delivery ounces 

December 2019 1,878 2,990 

March 2020 1,867 4,900 

June 2020 1,827 5,090 

September 2020 1,818 4,130 

December 2020 1,847 5,640 

March 2021 1,890 5,000 

   

Total 1,854 27,750 
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The group also held 10,400oz of put options priced at A$1,800 to manage expected revenue from low grade ore processing to December 
2019. An additional 18,000oz of put options at A$1,800 were entered into to cover a portion of production for delivery in 2021. 
  

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year. 
  

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
Following execution of a binding agreement between Alkane's wholly owned subsidiary Australian Strategic Materials ('ASM') and South 
Korean technology company Zirconium Technology Corporation ('Ziron Tech'), ASM has made a payment of US$1.2m to Ziron Tech in 
July 2019. This payment will fund the final stage of research and feasibility into an environmentally superior and cost effective method 
of producing high purity metals compared to existing methods. Refer to the 'Dubbo Project' section of the 'Review of operations' for 
additional details. 
  

On 2 August 2019, the company executed a subscription agreement and an underwriting agreement with Genesis Minerals Ltd (ASX: 
GMD) ('Genesis') whereby the company may invest up to $6m in Genesis by subscribing for shares under an initial placement, 
participating in and underwriting an entitlement offer, and potentially by subscribing for additional shares in a secondary placement 
that is conditional on Genesis shareholder approval. Genesis is an Australian gold exploration and mine development company with 
high quality projects located in Western Australia’s premier gold districts.  
  
 

Following execution of a binding agreement between Alkane's wholly owned subsidiary Australian Strategic Materials ('ASM') and South 
Korean technology company Zirconium Technology Corporation ('Ziron Tech'), ASM has made a payment of US$1.2m to Ziron Tech in 
July 2019. This payment will fund the final stage of research and feasibility into an environmentally superior and cost effective method 
of producing high purity metals compared to existing methods. Refer to the 'Dubbo Project' section of the 'Review of operations' for 
additional details. 
  

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial years. 
  

Likely developments and expected results of operations 
The group intends to continue evaluation activities in relation to the Dubbo Project in line with details provided in the Review of 
Operations. Efforts at TGO continue to be focussed on development of the underground mine, and exploration and evaluation of several 
of its other tenements to secure additional ore feed. Exploration and evaluation activities will continue on existing tenements and 
opportunities to expand the group's tenement portfolio will be pursued with a view to ensuring there is a pipeline of development 
opportunities for consideration. 
  

Refer to the Review of Operations for further detail on planned developments. 
  

Environmental regulation 
The group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect of its exploration and evaluation, development and mining 
activities. 
  

The group aspires to the highest standards of environmental management and insists its staff and contractors maintain that standard. 
A significant environmental incident is considered to be one that causes a major impact or impacts to land biodiversity, ecosystem 
services, water resources or air, with effects lasting greater than one year. There were no significant environmental incidents reported 
at any of the group's operations.  
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Meetings of directors 
The number of meetings of the company's Board of Directors ('the Board') and of each board committee held during the year ended 30 
June 2019, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

 
  

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the 
year. 
  
* Not a member of this committee. D I Chalmers and N P Earner may attend the relevant committee meetings by invitation. 

 
Remuneration report 
The directors' are pleased to present Alkane Resources Ltd’s remuneration report which sets out remuneration information for the 
company's Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors and other Key Management Personnel ('KMP'). 
 

The report contains the following sections: 
  

(a)  Key Management Personnel disclosed in this report 
(b)  Remuneration governance 
(c)  Use of remuneration consultants 
(d)  Executive remuneration policy and framework 
(e)  Statutory performance indicators 
(f)  Non-Executive Director remuneration policy 
(g)  Voting and comments made at the company's 2018 Annual General Meeting 
(h)  Details of remuneration 
(i)  Service agreements 
(j)  Details of share based payments and performance against key metrics 
(k)  Shareholdings and share rights held by Key Management Personnel 
(l)  Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 

 

 

(a) Key Management Personnel disclosed in this report 
Non-Executive and Executive Directors 
I J Gandel  D I Chalmers 
N P Earner  G M Smith 
A D Lethlean   
  
Other Key Management Personnel 
J Carter  Chief Financial Officer (appointed 1 October 2018) 
A MacDonald  General Manager - Marketing 
D Wilkins   Company Secretary 
  
There have been no changes to directors or KMP since the end of the reporting period.  
 
 

Full meetings Meetings of committees

of directors  Remuneration

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

I J Gandel 13 13 4 4 2 2 2 2   3*   4*

A D Lethlean 13 13 4 4 2 2 2 2 4 4

D I Chalmers 13 13   4*   4* 2 2   2*   2*   4*   4*

G M Smith 13 13 4 4 2 2 2 2   2*   4*

N P Earner 13 13   4*   4*   2*   2*   2*   2* 4 4

NominationAudit Risk
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(b)  Remuneration governance 
The company has established a Remuneration Committee to assist the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance responsibilities with 
respect to remuneration by reviewing and making appropriate recommendations to the Board on: 
  

●  the overall remuneration strategy and framework for the company; 
●  the operation of the incentive plans which apply to the Executive team, including the appropriateness of key performance 

indicators and performance hurdles; and 
●  the assessment of performance and remuneration of the executive directors, non-executive directors and other KMP. 
  
The Remuneration Committee is a Committee of the Board and at the date of this report the members were independent non-executive 
directors and included I J Gandel, A D Lethlean and G M Smith. 
  

Their objective is to ensure that remuneration policies and structures are fair, competitive and aligned with the long-term interests of 
the company and its shareholders. 
  

The company's annual Corporate Governance Statement provides further information on the role of this Committee, and the full 
statement is available at URL: http://www.alkane.com.au/company/governance. 
  

(c)  Use of remuneration consultants 
No remuneration consultants were engaged in the financial year to provide remuneration advice. 
  

 
(d)             Executive remuneration policy and framework 
In determining Executive remuneration, the Board (or the Remuneration Committee as its delegate) aims to ensure that remuneration 
practices: 
●  are competitive and reasonable, enabling the company to attract and retain key talent while building a diverse, sustainable and 

high achieving workforce; 
●  are aligned to the company’s strategic and business objectives and the creation of shareholder value; 
●  promote a high performance culture recognising that leadership at all levels is a critical element in this regard; 
●  are transparent; and 
●  are acceptable to shareholders. 
  
The Executive remuneration framework has three components: 
  

●  Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR); 
●  Short-Term Incentives (STI); and 
●  Long-Term Incentives (LTI). 
  

(i) Executive remuneration mix 
The company has in place Executive incentive programs which provide the mechanism to place a material portion of Executive pay "at 
risk". 
  

(ii) Total fixed remuneration 
A review is conducted of remuneration for all employees and Executives on an annual basis, or as required. The Remuneration 
Committee is responsible for determining Executive TFR.   
  

(iii) Incentive arrangements 
The company may utilise both short term and long term incentive programs to balance the short and long term aspects of business 
performance, to reflect market practice, to attract and retain key talent and to ensure a strong alignment between the incentive 
arrangements of Executives and the creation and delivery of shareholder return. 
 

In prior periods, the company has used both performance rights and share appreciation rights as the mechanisms for Executive 
incentives. All share appreciation rights expired in the prior period, and only performance rights have been used in the current period 
to incentivise the company’s executive and KMP. The performance rights plan was approved by shareholders at the 2016 Annual 
General Meeting and the share appreciation rights plan was approved by shareholders at the 2014 Annual General Meeting.  
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Long- term incentives 
The LTI is designed to focus Executives on delivering long term shareholder returns. Eligibility for the plan is restricted to Executives 
and nominated Senior Managers, being the employees who are most able to influence shareholder value. Under the plan, participants 
have an opportunity to earn up to 100% of their total fixed remuneration (calculated at the time of approval by the Remuneration 
Committee) comprised of performance rights. Performance rights are granted in two tranches each year. Each tranche of performance 
rights has separate vesting conditions being share price growth and company milestone events, with the executives’ LTI weighted more 
heavily to the share price growth tranche. The LTI vesting period is three years. 
  
The performance rights will be provided in the form of rights to ordinary shares in Alkane Resources Ltd that will vest at the end of the 
three year vesting period provided the predefined targets are met. On vesting, the rights automatically convert into one ordinary share 
each. Participants do not receive any dividends and are not entitled to vote in relation to the rights to shares prior to the vesting period. 
If a participant ceases to be employed by the group within this period, the rights will be forfeited, except in limited circumstances that 
are approved by the Board on a case-by-case basis. 
  

Under the share appreciation rights plan, participants are granted rights to receive fully paid ordinary shares in the company. Rights 
will only vest if the predefined Total Shareholder Return ('TSR') performance condition is met. If a participant ceases to be employed 
by the group within this period, the rights will be forfeited, except in limited circumstances that are approved by the Board on a case-
by-case basis. All share appreciation rights expired in the prior financial year. 
  

Participation in the plan is at the Board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan. 
  

Targets are generally reviewed annually and set for a forward three year period. Targets reflect factors such as the expectations of the 
group’s business plans, the stage of development of the group’s projects and the industry business cycle. The most appropriate target 
benchmark will be reviewed each year prior to the granting of rights. 
  

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining the LTI to vest based on an assessment of whether the predefined targets 
are met. To assist in this assessment, the Committee receives detailed reports on performance from management. The Committee has 
the discretion to adjust LTI's downwards in light of unexpected or unintended circumstances. 
  

(iv) Clawback policy for incentives 
Under the terms and conditions of the company’s incentive plan offer and the plan rules, the Board (or the Remuneration Committee 
as its delegate) has discretion to determine forfeiture of unvested equity awards in certain circumstances (e.g. unlawful, fraudulent or 
dishonest behaviour or serious breach of obligations to the company). All incentive offers and final outcomes are subject to the full 
discretion of the Board (or the Remuneration Committee as its delegate). 
  

(v) Share trading policy 
The trading of shares issued to participants under any of the company’s employee share plans is subject to, and conditional upon, 
compliance with the company’s employee share trading policy. Executives are prohibited from entering into any hedging arrangements 
over unvested rights under the company’s employee incentive plans. The company would consider a breach of this policy as gross 
misconduct which may lead to disciplinary action and potentially dismissal. 
 

(e) Statutory performance indicators 
The company aims to align Executive remuneration to the company’s strategic and business objectives and the creation of shareholder 
wealth. The table below shows measures of the group’s financial performance over the last 5 years as required by the Corporations Act 
2001. However, these are not necessarily consistent with the specific measures in determining the variable amounts of remuneration 
to be awarded to KMP. As a consequence, there may not always be a direct correlation between the statutory key performance 
measures and the variable remuneration rewarded. 
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(f)       Non-Executive Director remuneration policy 
On appointment to the Board, all Non-Executive Directors enter into a Service Agreement with the company in the form of a letter of 
appointment. The letter summarises the Board policies and terms, including remuneration, relevant to the office of Director. 
  

Non-Executive Directors receive a Board fee and fees for chairing or participating on Board Committees. Non-Executive Directors 
appointed do not receive retirement allowances. Fees provided are inclusive of superannuation and the Non-Executive Directors do 
not receive performance-based pay. 
  

Fees are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee taking into account comparable roles and market data obtained from 
independent data providers. The base fees of Non-Executive Directors for the period ending 30 June 2019 had not changed since 1 
January 2013. 
  

The maximum annual aggregate Directors’ fee pool limit (inclusive of applicable superannuation) is $700,000 and was approved by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 16 May 2013. 
 
Details of Non-Executive Director fees in the year ended 30 June 2019 are as follows: 

 
  

For services in addition to ordinary services, Non-Executive Directors may charge per diem consulting fees at the rate specified by the 
Board from time to time for a maximum of 4 days per month over a 12 month rolling basis. Any fees in excess of this limit are to be 
approved by the Board. 

(g) Voting and comments made at the company's 2018 Annual General Meeting 
The company received more than 87% of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the last financial period ended 30 June 2018. The 
company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices. 
 
  

30 June 2019 30 June 2018 30 June 2017 30 June 2016 30 June 2015

Revenue ($'000) 93,994 129,974 117,792 109,624 102,467

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners

($'000)
23,293 24,471 (28,937) 4,695 (4,086)

Basic earnings /(loss) per share (cents) 4.6 4.8 (5.8) 1.1 (1.0)

Dividend payments ($'000)  -  -  -  -  - 

Share price at period end (cents) 0.46 0.23 0.24 0.20 0.28 

Total KMP incentives as a percentage of

profit/(loss) for the year (%)
3.3% 3.0% 0.3% 3.0% 0.0%

$ per annum

Base fees

Chair 125,000            

Other Non-Executive Directors 75,000              

Additional fees

Audit committee - chair 7,500                 

Audit committee - member 5,000                 

Remuneration committee - chair 7,500                 

Remuneration committee - member 5,000                 
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 

(h)           Details of remuneration 
The following table shows details of the remuneration expense recognised for the directors and the KMP of the group for the current 
and previous financial year measured in accordance with the requirements of the accounting standards. 
 

 
 
 

 

Variable

remuneration

Annual and Post-

long employ- Rights to Per- 

Cash service ment deferred form

30 June 2019 salary 
(a)

leave 
(b)

benefits (c)
Total shares 

(d)
Total rel.

$ $ $ $ $

Executive Directors

N Earner 
(e)

466,943          16,178        23,058         506,179      542,845         1,049,024   52%

D I Chalmers 178,082          (10,775)       16,918         184,225      64,897           249,122      26%

Other KMP

A MacDonald 360,000          18,445        33,250         411,695      114,132         525,827      22%

D Wilkins (f) 169,438          -                   -                    169,438      -                      169,438      0%

J Carter (e)
228,750          10,792        18,750         258,292      50,688           308,980      16%

Total Executive Directors and

other KMP 1,403,213       34,640        91,976         1,529,829   772,562         2,302,391   34%

Total NED remuneration 
(h)

299,993          -                   20,424         320,417      -                      320,417      0%

Total KMP remuneration 

expense 1,703,206       34,640        112,400       1,850,246   772,562         2,622,808   29%

Fixed remuneration

Variable

remuneration

Annual and Post-

Non long employ- Rights to Per- 

Cash monetary service ment deferred form

30 June 2018 salary (a) benefits (a) leave (b) benefits (c) Other (b) Total shares (d) Total rel.

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Executive Director

N Earner 457,545    -             25,045      23,059      -          505,649    623,905         1,129,554 55%

D I Chalmers 208,402    32,726      149,596    19,798      -          410,522    133,010         543,532    24%

Other KMP

M Ball (g) 331,938    -             11,228      21,845      -          365,011    (117,000)       248,011    0%

A MacDonald 360,000    69,300      25,670      33,250      -          488,220    99,176           587,396    17%

J Carter -             -             -             -             -          -             -                 -             

D Wilkins (f) 43,177       -             -             -             -          43,177       -                 43,177       0%

K E Brown (f)
152,500    33,000      -             -             -          185,500    -                 185,500    0%

Total Executive Directors and

other KMP 1,553,562 135,026    211,539    97,952      -          1,998,079 739,091         2,737,170 27%

Total NED remuneration (h) 258,487    -             -             19,845      125,000 403,332    -                 403,332    0%

Total KMP remuneration 

expense 1,812,049 135,026    211,539    117,797    125,000 2,401,411 739,091         3,140,502 24%

Fixed remuneration
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(a)  Short-term benefits as per Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03(1) Item 6. 
(b)  Other long-term benefits as per Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03(1) Item 8. The amounts disclosed in this column represent the 

movements in the associated provisions. They may be negative where a KMP has taken more leave than accrued during the year. 
(c)  Post-employment benefits are provided through superannuation contributions. 
(d)  Rights to deferred shares granted under the executive STI and LTI schemes are expensed over the performance period, which 

includes the year to which the incentive relates and the subsequent vesting period of the rights. 
Rights to deferred shares are equity-settled share-based payments as per the Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03(1) Item11. These 
include negative amounts for the rights forfeited during the year. 
Details of each grant of share right are provided in the table in section (j). Shareholder approval was received in advance to the 
grant of share rights where required. 

(e)  J Carter was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 October 2018. 
N Earner was appointed Managing Director in the prior year, having previously been the group's Chief Operations Officer. 

(f)  K E Brown retired as Company Secretary in the prior year. 
Company secretarial services were paid to DWCorporate Pty Ltd, a company associated with Mr Wilkins. 

(g)  M Ball resigned as Chief Financial Officer in the prior year. 
(h)  Refer below for details of Non-Executive Directors' (NED) remuneration. 

 
 

 
 

(1)        Remuneration details for I J Gandel include unpaid committee fees relating to the current and prior financial periods. The 
amount of unpaid fees for the period ending 30 June 2019 is $12,500 (2018: $10,417). 
 

 
 

(1)  Other benefits include an ex gratia payment paid to Mr Dunlop upon resignation. 
 

  

30 June 2019 Cash salary

and fees Other Superannuation Total

$ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors

I J Gandel (1) 135,084            -                         12,833              147,917            

A D Lethlean 79,909              -                         7,591                87,500              

G M Smith 85,000              -                         -                         85,000              

Total Non-Executive Directors 299,993            -                         20,424              320,417            

30 June 2018 Cash salary

and fees Other Superannuation Total

$ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors

I J Gandel 108,067            -                         10,266              118,333            

A D Leathlean 79,909              -                         7,591                87,500              

G Smith 49,583              -                         -                         49,583              

J S F Dunlop (1) 20,928              125,000            1,988                147,916            

Total Non-Executive Directors 258,487            125,000            19,845              403,332            
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The relative proportions of remuneration expense recognised during the year that are linked to performance and those that are fixed 
are as follows: 

 
 

N P Earner was appointed Managing Director 1 September 2017, the entitlements prior to this relate to his role as Chief Operations 
Officer. 

J Carter was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 October 2018. 

K E Brown retired as Company Secretary in the prior year. 

D Wilkins was appointed Company Secretary in the prior year. 

K E Brown and D Wilkins were not employees of the company and therefore not eligible to participate in incentive programs. Instead a 
fee for services is paid as set out previously. 

M Ball resigned as Chief Financial Officer in the prior year. 

(i)             Service agreements 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for KMP are formalised in service agreements. Details of these agreements are as 
follows: 

 
 
(1) 

 

Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR) is for the year ended 30 June 2019 and is inclusive of superannuation but does not include long 
service leave accruals. TFR is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee. Mr Chalmer's TFR represents his role as 
Technical Director and does not include other director fees. 

(2)  Specified termination payments are within the limits set by the Corporations Act 2001. The termination benefit provision for 
the Managing Director was approved at the Annual General Meeting on 29 November 2017. 
Mr Earner may resign with 3 months' notice; or  
Alkane may terminate the Executive Employment agreement with 3 months' notice; or  
Where Mr Earner resigns as a result of a material diminution in the position, Mr Earner will be entitled to payment in lieu of 12 
months' notice and short term incentives and long term incentives granted or issued but not yet vested. 

(3)  Mr Wilkins' firm, DW Corporate Pty Ltd, is engaged to provide company secretarial and corporate advisory services. Fees are 
charged on an hourly basis, and all amounts are disclosed in the remuneration table in section (h). 
Mr Wilkin's agreement commenced 29 March 2018 until terminated in writing by either party, a four month notice period of 
termination is required and no monies are payable consequent to termination. 

  

Fixed remuneration At risk - LTI

2019 2018 2019 2018

% % % %

Executive Directors of Alkane Resources Ltd

D I Chalmers 74                76                26                24                

N P Earner 48                45                52                55                

Other Key Management Personnel

J Carter 84                -                   16                -                   

A MacDonald 78                83                22                17                

D Wilkins 100              100              -                   -                   

K E Brown -                   100              -                   -                   

M Ball -                   100              -                   -                   

Name and position Term of agreement TFR (1)

Termination 

payment(2)

D I Chalmers  - Technical Director On-going commencing 1 September 2017 $120,000 6 months

N Earner - Managing Director On-going commencing 1 September 2017 $490,000 see note 2 below

J Carter - Chief Financial Officer On-going commencing 1 October 2018 $330,000 3 months

A MacDonald - General Manager - Marketing On-going commencing 1 February 2017 $393,250 6 months

D Wilkins - Company Secretary (3)
On-going commencing 29 March 2018 see note 3 below see note 3 below
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(j)                 Details of share based payments and performance against key metrics 
 
Details of each grant of share rights affecting remuneration in the current or future reporting period are set out below. 

  
 
  

(a) The value at grant date for share rights granted during the year as part of remuneration is calculated in accordance with AASB 2 
Share Based Payments. Differences will arise between the number of share rights at fair value in the table above and the STI and 
LTI percentages mentioned in section (d) due to different timing of valuation of rights as approved by the Remuneration Committee 
and at grant. Refer to note 35 for details of the valuation techniques used for the rights plan. 

(b) Share rights only vest if performance and service targets are achieved. The determination is usually made at the conclusion of the 
statutory audit. 

(c) FY2018 LTI – Performance Rights – Tranche 2: amounts expensed for the year have reduced due to the downwards revision of 
probabilities ascribed to the relevant milestone targets. 

 

The determination of the number of rights that are to vest or be forfeited during a financial year is made by the Remuneration 
Committee after the statutory audit has been substantially completed. As such, the actual determination is made after the balance 
date. Where there are rights that have vested or been forfeited, details will be included in the Remuneration Report as the relevant 
performance period will conclude at the end of the relevant financial year. 

There was no vesting or forfeiting of share rights relating to a performance period which ended during the current financial year. 
  

Performance against key metrics 

No short term incentives were issued to executives during the year. 
  

Name

Date of 

grant

Number of 

rights 

granted

Fair value of 

share rights 

at date of 

grant

Share rights 

at fair value

Performance 

period end

Share based 

payment 

expense 

current year

$ $ $

Executive Directors

I Chalmers

FY2018 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 1 4/12/2017 710,960        0.240            170,630       30/06/2020 56,877 

FY2018 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 2 4/12/2017 152,348        0.340            51,798         30/06/2020 576 

FY2019 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 1 21/11/2018 305,785        0.050            15,289         30/06/2021 5,096 

FY2019 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 2 21/11/2018 65,525          0.215            14,088         30/06/2021 2,348 

N Earner

FY2018 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 1 4/12/2017 5,965,251     0.240            1,431,660   30/06/2020 477,220 

FY2018 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 2 4/12/2017 1,278,268     0.340            434,611       30/06/2020 4,829 

FY2019 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 1 21/11/2018 2,497,245     0.050            124,862       30/06/2021 41,621 

FY2019 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 2 21/11/2018 535,124        0.215            115,052       30/06/2021 19,175 

Other Key Management Personnel

J Carter

FY2019 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 1 18/10/2018 1,841,591     0.059            108,654       30/06/2021 36,218 

FY2019 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 2 18/10/2018 394,626        0.220            86,818         30/06/2021 14,470 

A MacDonald

FY2018 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 1 11/10/2017 1,036,817     0.250            259,204       30/06/2020 86,401 

FY2018 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 2 11/10/2017 222,175        0.345            76,650         30/06/2020 852 

FY2019 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 1 18/10/2018 976,601        0.059            57,619         30/06/2021 19,206 

FY2019 LTI - Performance Rights - Tranche 2 18/10/2018 209,271        0.220            46,040         30/06/2021 7,673 
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 j)   Details of share based payments and performance against key metrics (continued) 
 
The LTI consisted of Tranche 1 ('T1') and Tranche 2 ('T2') performance rights, being the reward vehicle for targets that are milestone 
based. The tables below provide details of the performance milestone targets, weighting and vesting for both 2018 and 2019 
performance rights granted to directors and other KMP's.  

  

 
 

* Share price performance growth targets for performance rights (T1) above are as follows: 

 
 
(k) Shareholdings and share rights held by Key Management Personnel 

Shareholding 
The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director and other members of KMP of the consolidated 
entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
  

  Balance at   Received       Balance at  
  the start of   as part of     Disposals/   the end of  
  the year  remuneration  Additions  other  the year 
Ordinary shares           
I J Gandel *  111,261,217  -  13,786,059  (13,786,059)  111,261,217  
A D Lethlean  520,076  -  120,000  -  640,076  
D I Chalmers  4,152,124  -  -  -  4,152,124  
N Earner  146,666  -  -  -  146,666  
G Smith   142,000  -  -  -  142,000  
A MacDonald  710,000  -  1,100,000  -  1,810,000  

  116,932,083  -  15,006,059  (13,786,059)  118,152,083  
 

 

*  The changes in Mr Gandel's interest in shares noted above arose due to an incorrect perception about Alkane shares acquired by 
Chapelgreen Pty Ltd ('Chapelgreen'). The uncertainties giving rise to this perception have been resolved. In the interests of 
transparency, disclosure was made via the ASX announcement platform on 13 November 2018. Notwithstanding the disclosure, 
neither Alkane nor Mr Gandel considered that Mr Gandel had a relevant interest in the shares mentioned. 

  

LTI reward vehicle Performance metrics Weighting Vested Outcome

Performance Rights (T1) Share price performance growth* 82% 0%
Vesting periods ends 30 June 

2020 (FY18) and 2021 (FY19)

Performance Rights (T2)

Financing obtained and development

commenced at Dubbo Project by the end of

the LTI period

6% 0%
Vesting periods ends 30 June 

2020 (FY18) and 2021 (FY19)

Commissioning of the Dubbo Project

commenced by the end of the LTI period
6% 0%

Vesting periods ends 30 June 

2020 (FY18) and 2021 (FY19)

Production of the Dubbo Project at modelled

rates of 65% capacity (which is end of

production year one target)

6% 0%
Vesting periods ends 30 June 

2020 (FY18) and 2021 (FY19)

Annual growth rate (CAGR) % Performance rights vesting (T1)

Less than 10% CAGR Nil

Above 10% CAGR up to 15% CAGR Pro rata vesting from 0% - 50%

At 15% CAGR 50%

Above 15% CAGR up to 30% CAGR Pro rata vesting from 50% - 100%

At 30% CAGR 100%
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(k) Shareholdings and share rights held by Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 
Performance rights holding 
The number of performance rights over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of KMP of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
  
  Balance at       Expired/   Balance at  
  the start of       forfeited/   the end of  
  the year  Granted  Vested  other  the year 
Performance rights over ordinary shares           
D I Chalmers - Performance rights  863,308  371,310  -  -  1,234,618  
N Earner - Performance rights  7,243,519  3,032,369  -  -  10,275,888  
J Carter - Performance rights  -  2,236,217  -  -  2,236,217  
A MacDonald - Performance rights  1,258,992  1,185,872  -  -  2,444,864  

  9,365,819  6,825,768  -  -  16,191,587  
  

The determination of the number of rights that are to vest or be forfeited is made by the Remuneration Committee after the statutory 
audit has been substantially completed. As such, the actual determination was made after the balance date however details have been 
included in the current Remuneration Report as the relevant performance period is the current financial year. 
  

(l)                Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 
There were no other transactions with KMP's during the financial year ended 30 June 2019. 
 
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Alkane Resources Ltd under performance rights outstanding at the date of this report. 
  

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 
  

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
Alkane Resources Ltd has entered into deeds of indemnity, access and insurance with each of the Directors. These deeds remain in 
effect as at the date of this report. Under the deeds, the company indemnifies each Director to the maximum extent permitted by law 
against legal proceedings or claims made against or incurred by the Directors in connection with being a Director of the company, or 
breach by the group of its obligations under the deed. 
  

The liability insured is the indemnification of the group against any legal liability to third parties arising out of any Directors or Officers 
duties in their capacity as a Director or Officer other than indemnification not permitted by law. 
  
No liability has arisen under this indemnity as at the date of this report. 
  

The group has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified nor agreed to indemnify an officer of the group or of any 
related body corporate, against a liability incurred as such by an officer. 
  

During the year the company has paid premiums in respect of Directors' and Executive Officers' Insurance. The contracts contain 
prohibitions on disclosure of the amount of the premiums and the nature of the liabilities under the policies. 
 
Proceedings on behalf of the company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
company for all or part of those proceedings. 
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Non-audit services 
The company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor's expertise 
and experience with the group is important. 

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another person or 
firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 
2001. 

The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements do not compromise the external 
auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
● all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the 

auditor; and
● none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants.

Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out immediately 
after this directors' report. 

Rounding of amounts 
The company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to the 'rounding-off' of amounts in the directors' report and financial report. Amounts in this report have been 
rounded off in accordance with that ASIC Legislative Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest 
dollar. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the directors 

___________________________ 
N Earner 
Managing Director 

30 August 2019 
Perth 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
As lead auditor for the audit of Alkane Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2019, I declare 
that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:  

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Alkane Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
period. 

Helen Bathurst Perth 
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 

30 August 2019 
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  Note  2019  2018 
    $'000  $'000 
       

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Continuing operations       
Revenue  2  93,994   129,974  
Cost of sales  3  (60,912)  (89,323) 

       
Gross profit    33,082   40,651  
  

Other net income  4  1,856   1,548  
  

Expenses       
Other expenses  3  (8,887)  (10,280) 
Finance costs    (419)  (603) 

Total expenses    (9,306)  (10,883) 
  
Profit before income tax expense    25,632   31,316  
  

Income tax expense  5  (2,339)  (6,845) 
  

Profit after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of Alkane 
Resources Ltd 

 

24 
 

23,293  
 

24,471  
  

Other comprehensive loss       
       
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss       
Changes in the fair value of equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 

 

 

 

151  

 

-   
       
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss       
Losses on cash flow hedges    (780)  -   
  
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax    (629)  -   
  

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of Alkane Resources 
Ltd 

 

 

 

22,664  

 

24,471  

  

    Cents  Cents 
       
Basic earnings per share  36  4.6  4.8 
Diluted earnings per share  36  4.5  4.8 
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  Note  2019  2018 
    $'000  $'000 
       

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  6  69,582   72,003  
Trade and other receivables  7  1,998   2,030  
Inventories  8  4,816   19,153  
Derivative financial instruments  9  25   -   
Biological assets  10  80   12  

Total current assets    76,501   93,198  

       
Non-current assets       
Exploration and evaluation  13  103,894   93,136  
Property, plant and equipment  14  51,038   36,266  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  11  7,767  - 
Biological assets  15  402   526  
Derivative financial instruments  12  678   -   
Other financial assets  17  8,417   8,347  

Total non-current assets    172,196   138,275  

       
Total assets    248,697   231,473  
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  18  8,007   9,299  
Income tax provision  19  -   6,929  
Provisions  20  4,438   11,202  
Total current liabilities    12,445   27,430  

       
Non-current liabilities       
Provisions  21  13,059   13,647  
Deferred tax liabilities  5  9,317   -   

Total non-current liabilities    22,376   13,647  

       
Total liabilities    34,821   41,077  
  

Net assets    213,876   190,396  

  

Equity       
Issued capital  22  220,111   220,160  
Reserves  23  2,352   2,116  
Accumulated losses  24  (8,587)  (31,880) 

       
Total equity    213,876   190,396  
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The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Total equity  

 

Share capital 

 Share-based 
payments 

reserve 

 

Accumulated 
losses 

 

  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
         
Balance at 1 July 2017  219,948  1,330            (56,351)  164,927  
         
Profit after income tax expense for the year  -  -  24,471  24,471  

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

 

- 

 

- 

 

24,471 

 

24,471  
         
Share issue transaction costs (Note 22)                      (5)  -  -                       (5) 
Share based payments (Note 35)                      301  786  -  1,087  
Deferred tax recognised in equity (Note 22)                     (84)  -  -                     (84) 

         
Balance at 30 June 2018  220,160  2,116  (31,880)  190,396  

  

          

Total equity  

 

Share capital 

 Share-based 
payments 

reserve 

 

Other reserves 

 

Accumulated 
losses 

 

  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
           
Balance at 1 July 2018  220,160  2,116  -            (31,880)  190,396  
           
Profit after income tax expense for the year  -  -  -  23,293  23,293  
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax  -  -                  (629)  -                  (629) 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(629) 

 

23,293 

 

22,664  
           
           
Share based payments (Note 35)  -  865  -  -  865  
Deferred tax recognised in equity (Note 22)  (49)  -  -  -                     (49) 
           
Balance at 30 June 2019  220,111  2,981  (629)  (8,587)  213,876  
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  Note  2019  2018 
    $'000  $'000 
       

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers                 92,513             128,801  
Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST)              (55,944)            (72,240) 

                  36,569              56,561 
Interest received                    1,477                  1,175  
Finance costs paid                    (138)                  (110) 
Royalties and selling costs                 (2,864)               (4,649) 
Other receipts    1,172  1,556  
       
Net cash from operating activities  40  36,216  54,533  
  

Cash flows from investing activities       
Payments for property, plant and equipment    (19,621)  (9,224) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment    4   -   
Payments for exploration expenditure    (11,578)  (10,969) 
Payments for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income    (7,616)  -   
Payments for security deposits    (80)  (4,114) 
Refund of security deposits    10   -   
Purchase of biological assets    (195)  (203) 
Proceeds from the sale of biological assets    439   -   

       
Net cash used in investing activities    (38,637)  (24,510) 
  

Cash flows from financing activities       
Cost of share issue  22  -                        (5) 
Proceeds from borrowings    988   993  
Repayment of borrowings                     (988)                  (977) 
       
Net cash from financing activities    -    11  
  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents                (2,421)  30,034  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year                  72,003   41,969  

       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  6  69,582   72,003  
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Note 1. Segment information 
  

The consolidated entity is organised into two operating segments: gold operations and the exploration, evaluation and development 
of rare metals. These operating segments are based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (who 
are identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.  
  

Costs that do not relate to either of the operating segments have been identified as unallocated costs. Corporate assets and liabilities 
that do not relate to either of the operating segments have been identified as unallocated. The group has formed a tax consolidation 
group and therefore tax balances are disclosed under the unallocated grouping. The group utilises a central treasury function resulting 
in cash balances being included in the unallocated segment. 
  
  Gold  Rare     
  Operations  Metals  Unallocated  Total 
30 JUNE 2019  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
         
Gold sales to external customers  92,513  -  -  92,513 
Interest income  -  -  1,481  1,481 

         
  92,513  -  1,481  93,994 

  

Segment net profit/(loss) before income tax  31,930  812  (7,110)  25,632 
  

Segment net profit includes the following non-cash adjustments:         
Depreciation and amortisation  (7,165)  (12)  (150)  (7,327) 
Exploration expenditure written off or provided for  -  (444)  (138)  (582) 
Inventory product movement and provision  (14,669)  -  -  (14,669) 
Restructuring provision  104  -  -  104 
Income tax expense  -  -  (2,339)  (2,339) 

         
Total adjustments  (21,730)  (456)  (2,627)  (24,813) 

  
Total segment assets  38,035  115,478  95,184  248,697 
Total segment liabilities  (22,982)  (262)  (11,577)  (34,821) 

         
Net segment assets  15,053  115,216  83,607  213,876 

  

  Gold  Rare     
  Operations  Metals  Unallocated  Total 
30 JUNE 2018  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
         
Gold sales to external customers  128,799  -  -  128,799 
Interest income  -  -  1,175  1,175 

         
  128,799  -  1,175  129,974 

  

Segment net profit/(loss) before income tax  38,591  (108)  (7,167)  31,316 
  
Segment net loss includes the following non-cash adjustments:         
Depreciation and amortisation  (38,019)  (4)  (260)  (38,283) 
Deferred stripping costs capitalised  4,280  -  -  4,280 
Exploration expenditure written off or provided for  -  -  (181)  (181) 
Inventory product movement and provision  9,884  -  -  9,884 
Restructuring provision  (496)  -  -  (496) 

         
Total adjustments  (24,351)  (4)  (441)  (24,796) 
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  Gold  Rare     
  Operations  Metals  Unallocated  Total 
30 June 2018 (continued)  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
         
Total segment assets  37,180  109,902  84,391  231,473 
Total segment liabilities  (31,120)  (1,268)  (8,689)  (41,077) 

         
Net segment assets  6,060  108,634  75,702  190,396 

  

Note 2. Revenue 
  

  2019  2018 

  $'000  $'000 

     

Revenue from continuing operations     

Gold sales  92,513   128,799  

Interest income  1,481   1,175  

     

  93,994   129,974  

  

(a) Revenue 

Revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a customer. Control is generally determined to be when the 
customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from that good or service. 
  

(b) Gold sales 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the group satisfies its performance obligations under its contract with the customer 
by transferring such goods to the customer’s control. Control is generally determined to be when the customer has the ability to direct 
the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from that good. 
  

(c) Interest income 
Interest is recognised as it is accrued using the effective interest method. 
  

Note 3. Expenses 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Cost of sales     
Cash costs of production  36,662   61,288  
Deferred stripping costs capitalised  -                 (4,280) 
Inventory product movement  14,669                (9,884) 
Depreciation and amortisation  7,165   38,019  
Royalties and selling costs  2,416   4,180  

     
  60,912   89,323  

  

(a) Cash costs of production 
Cash costs of production include ore and waste mining costs, processing costs and site administration and support costs. Cash costs of 
production include $10,281,000 of employee remuneration benefits (2018: $15,889,000). 
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(b) Deferred stripping costs capitalised 
Stripping costs capitalised represents costs incurred in the development and production phase of a mine and are capitalised as part of 
the cost of constructing the mine and subsequently amortised over the useful life of the ore body that access is provided to on a units-
of-production basis. 
  
(c) Inventory product movement 
Inventory product movement represents the movement in the balance sheet inventory ore stockpile, gold in circuit and bullion on 
hand. 
 
Refer to note 8 for further details on the group's accounting policy for inventory. 
 
(d) Inventory product provision for net realisable value 
Inventory must be carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less estimated costs to complete processing and to make a sale. The net realisable value provision equals the 
decrement between the net realisable value and the carrying value before provision. 
 
Refer to note 8 for further details on the group's accounting policy for inventory. 
  

  2019  2018 

  $’000  $’000 

Other expenses     

Corporate administration  2,288   2,225  

Employee remuneration and benefits expensed  1,570   1,829  

Share based payments  865   1,087  

Professional fees and consulting services  1,633   1,467  

Restructuring provision                   (104)  496  

Exploration expenditure provided for or written off  582   188  

Directors' fees and salaries expensed  614   726  

Depreciation  162   264  

Dubbo project expenses not capitalised                     (80)  945  

Non-core project expenses  1,357   1,053  

     

  8,887   10,280  

  

Note 4. Other net income 
  

  2019  2018 

  $'000  $'000 

     

Net foreign exchange gains                      (7)                         5  

Loss on disposal of non-current assets                      (7)                      (2) 

Other income  1,870   1,545  

     

  1,856   1,548  

  

The other income includes agistment and livestock sales of $697,000 (2018: $612,000) from farming activity, sale of water available 
under certain owned water licences of $320,000 (2018: $234,000), and revenue of $400,000 (2018: Nil) in relation to a share 
subscription agreement between Australian Strategic Materials ('ASM') and Explaurum Ltd that was subsequently terminated thereby 
entitling ASM to a break fee.  
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Note 5. Income tax 
  

(a) Income tax expense 
  

  30 June 2019  30 June 2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Current tax     
Current tax on profits for the year   -  6,929 
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods  (6,929)                         - 

Total current tax expense  (6,929)                  6,929 

     
Deferred income tax     
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax asset   5,914                   (84) 
Increase in deferred tax liabilities  3,354                       - 

Total deferred tax expense/(benefit)  9,268                    (84) 

     
Income tax expense  2,339                  6,845 

  

(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable 
  

  30 June 2019  30 June 2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Profit before income tax expense  25,003                31,316 

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30.0% (2018 - 30%)  7,501                  9,395 
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:     
     Tax benefits of deductible equity raising costs  (49)                   (85) 
     Research and development tax incentive  -                 (146) 
     Non-deductible share based payments  259                     326 
     Other items  8                       16 

Subtotal  7,719                  9,506 
  

Movement in temporary differences  (6,533)               (1,076) 
Under provision for prior year  1,226                         - 
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses  (73)               (1,585) 

Income tax expense  2,339    6,845 

  

(c) Deferred tax assets 
    Rehabilitation  Property,  R&D Tax     

 
 

Tax losses 

 Provision and 
assets 

 plant and 
equipment 

 incentive 
credits 

 

Other 

 

Total 
Movements  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
             
At 1 July 2017  1,066   4,114   21,587   3,870   2,162                32,799  
Charged/(credited)             
- profit or loss  (1,066)  505   5,745   (3,870)  822                   2,136  
- direct to equity  -  -  -  -  (84)                    (84) 

At 30 June 2018  -  4,619   27,332   -  2,900   34,851  

   
De-recognition of deferred tax asset charged to profit or loss               (6,489) 

   
Net recognised deferred tax asset available for offset against deferred tax liabilities  28,362  
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    Rehabilitation   Property,  R&D Tax     

 
 

Tax losses 
 Provision and 

assets 
 plant and 

equipment 
 incentive 

credits 
 

Other 
 

Total 
Movements  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
             
At 1 July 2018  -  4,619  20,843  -                  2,900  28,362 
- to profit or loss                          -  (1,002)  (4,491)                   1,072                (1,493)  (5,914) 
- direct to equity  -  -  -  -                    (49)                    (49) 

As at 30 June 2019  -  3,617  16,352  1,072  1,358                22,399 

  

(d) Deferred tax liabilities 
  
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:     
Exploration expenditure  (31,168)             (27,941) 
Other  (548)                   (421) 

Total deferred tax liabilities  (31,716)             (28,362) 
Set-off of deferred tax assets  22,399                 28,362  

Net recognised deferred tax liabilities  (9,317)                           - 

  

  Exploration     
  Expenditure  Other  Total 
Movements  $'000  $'000  $'000 
       
At 1 July 2017             24,932                      302               25,234  
-    to profit or loss               3,009                       119                   3,128  

At 30 June 2018              27,941                      421               28,362  

       
At 1 July 2018  27,941  421                28,362 
-     to profit or loss  3,227  127                  3,354 

At 30 June 2019  31,168  548                31,716 

  
 
(e) Deferred tax recognised directly in equity 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Relating to equity raising costs  (49)                       (84) 

  
 

(f) Unrecognised temporary differences and tax losses 
  
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Unrecognised tax losses  18,315                  14,472  

Potential tax benefit at 30% (2018: 30%)  5,495    4,342  
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(f) Unrecognised temporary differences and tax losses (continued) 
 
The potential benefit of carried forward tax losses will only be obtained if taxable income is derived of a nature and amount sufficient 
to enable the benefit from the deductions to be realised. In accordance with the Group’s policies for deferred taxes, a deferred tax 
asset is recognised only if it is probable that sufficient future taxable income will be generated to offset against the asset. 
  
Determination of future taxable profits requires estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances including commodity 
prices, ore resources, exchange rates, future capital requirements, future operational performance, the timing of estimated cash flows, 
and the ability to successfully develop and commercially exploit resources. 
 
Tax legislation prescribes the rate at which tax losses transferred from entities joining a tax consolidation group can be applied to 
taxable incomes and this rate is diluted by changes in ownership, including capital raisings. As a result the reduction in the rate at which 
the losses can be applied to future taxable incomes, the period of time over which it is forecast that these losses may be utilised has 
extended beyond that which management considers prudent to support their continued recognition for accounting purposes. 
Accordingly, no deferred tax asset has been recognised for certain tax losses. Recognition for accounting purposes does not impact the 
ability of the Group to utilise the losses to reduce future taxable profits. 
  
Alkane Resources Ltd and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. As a 
consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
  
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Unrecognised temporary differences  -    21,630  

Potential tax benefit at 30% (2018: 30%)  -    6,489  

  
Deferred tax assets relating to deductible temporary differences can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. The deferred tax asset relating to 
impairment expense in the prior year has not been recognised at this time as it is not probable that sufficient future taxable profits will 
be available against which to offset the deductible temporary differences. Recognition for accounting purposes does not impact the 
ability of the Group to utilise the deductible temporary differences to reduce future taxable profits. 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Provision for income tax  -   6,929  

  

Note 6. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 
  
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Cash at bank  69,582   72,003  

  
Cash at bank at balance date weighted average interest rate was 2.1% (2018: 1.6%). 
  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions and other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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Note 7. Current assets - trade and other receivables 
  

  2019  2018 

  $'000  $'000 

     

Trade receivables  348   13  

Prepayments  890   1,073  

GST and fuel tax credit receivable  760   944  

     

  1,998   2,030  

  

(i) Classification as receivables 
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and then subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for credit losses. As 
at 30 June 2019 the group has determined that the expected provision for credit losses is not material. 
 
In determining the recoverability of a trade or other receivable using the expected credit loss model, the group performs a risk analysis 
considering the type and age of the outstanding receivables, the creditworthiness of the counterparty, contract provisions, letter of 
credit and timing of payment. 
  

(ii) Fair value of receivables 
Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to be the same as their fair value. 
  
(iii) Impairment and risk exposure 
Information about the impairment of receivables, their credit quality and the group’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and 
interest rate risk can be found in note 26. 
  

Note 8. Current assets - inventories 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Ore stockpiles  704   11,229  
Gold in circuit  834   1,184  
Bullion on hand  1,539   5,333  
Consumable stores  1,739  1,407 

 
 

 

4,816 
 

19,153 

     
  
(i) Assigning costs to inventories 
Costs are assigned to ore stockpiles, gold in circuit and bullion on hand on the basis of weighted average costs. Inventories must be 
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 
variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. At balance date ore 
stockpiles, gold in circuit, bullion on hand and consumable stores were carried at cost. 
 
No provision was recorded at 30 June 2019 to write down inventories to their recoverable value (2018: $nil). The movement in the 
provision was nil (2018: $nil). 
 
Consumable stores include diesel, explosives and other consumables items. These items are carried at cost. 
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(ii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
Consumable inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2019 amounted to $12,499,000 (2018: $16,819,000). 
These were included in costs of production. 
 
Product inventory movement during the year ended 30 June 2019 amounted to an expense of $14,669,000 (2018: credit $9,884,000) 
and is disclosed as part of cost of sales in Note 3. 
  

Note 9. Current assets - derivative financial instruments 
  

  2019  2018 

  $'000  $'000 
     
Derivative financial instruments 
 
     Commodity put options - cash flow hedges 

 

25  

 

-   

  

During the period subsidiary company Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd ('TGO') entered into several commodity put option contracts 
to hedge a portion of its future gold sales. Movements in the options' fair value are reflected through other comprehensive income. 
  

Note 10. Current assets - biological assets 
  

Biological assets comprise livestock which were acquired by Toongi Pastoral Company Pty Ltd as part of farming operations on the 
surrounding land to the Dubbo Project mining lease. 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Biological assets   80   12  

  

Note 11. Non-current assets - financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) are comprised of equity securities which are not held for 
trading, and which the group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category. These are strategic investments 
and the group considers this classification to be more relevant. 
  
Equity investments designed as held for sale are excluded from the table below and are disclosed as current assets - available for sale. 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Listed securities  7,767   -   

  

During the period the company secured a substantial investment in Calidus Resources Ltd (ASX: CAI), in addition to acquiring shares in 
Genesis Minerals Ltd (ASX: GMD) as part of the company's growth strategy of investing in junior gold mining companies and projects 
that have high exploration potential and/or require near term development funding. 
  

On disposal of these equity investments, any related balance within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to retained earnings. 
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Note 12. Non-current assets - derivative financial instruments 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
     Commodity put options - cash flow hedges  678   -   

  

During the period subsidiary company Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd ('TGO') entered into several commodity put option contracts 
to hedge a portion of its future gold sales. Movements in the options' fair value are reflected through other comprehensive income. 
The fair value of put options with an expiry greater than 12 months are disclosed above. 
  

The total movement in fair value of commodity put options recognised in other comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 
2019 was $780,000 (2018: $nil). 
  

Note 13. Non-current assets - exploration and evaluation 
  

  2019  2018 

  $'000  $'000 

     

Opening balance                93,136                 83,107  

Expenditure during the year                11,166                 10,210  

Amounts provided for or written off                  (408)                  (181) 
     

  103,894    93,136  

  

(a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
  

Exploration and evaluation costs are carried forward on an area of interest basis. Costs are recognised and carried forward where rights 
to tenure of the area of interest are current and either: 
  

●  the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest; or 
●  activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the 

existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant exploration and evaluation activities in, 
or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

  

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when reclassified to development tangible or intangible assets, or 
whenever facts or circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the exploration and 
evaluation assets carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration and 
evaluation assets fair value less costs of disposal and their value in use. 
  

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest are demonstrable, 
exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for impairment and then reclassified to mine 
properties under development. No amortisation is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase. 
  

Recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and commercial 
exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest. 
  

There may exist, on the group's exploration properties, areas subject to claim under native title or containing sacred sites or sites of 
significance to Aboriginal people. As a result, exploration properties or areas within tenements may be subject to exploration or mining 
restrictions. 
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Note 14. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment 
  

  Land and  Plant and  Capital  Mine   
  buildings  equipment  WIP  properties  Total 
Year ended 30 June 2019  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
           
Opening cost  39,743  73,590  630  162,518  276,481 
  

Additions  -  -  13,247  9,885  23,132 
Transfers between classes  636  7,437  (10,149)  2,076  - 
Disposals  -                   (579)  -  -                  (579) 
Net movement  636  6,858  3,098  11,961  22,553 

 
Closing cost 

 
40,379 

 
80,448 

 
3,728 

 
174,479 

 
299,034 

           
 

Opening accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

 

(12,483) 

 

           (71,651) 

 

- 

 

         (156,081) 

 

(240,215) 
 Depreciation charge: 
- to profit or loss  (191)               (1,217)  -               (5,919)               (7,327) 
- capitalised to Mine properties  -                (1,021)  -                          -               (1,021) 
Disposals  -  567  -  -  567 

Net movement  (191)  (1,671)  -  (5,919)  (7,781) 

 
Closing accumulated depreciation and impairment 

 
(12,674) 

 
(73,322) 

 
- 

 
(162,000) 

 
(247,996) 

 
Closing net carrying value 

 
27,705 

 
7,126 

 
3,728 

 
12,479 

 
51,038 

           
           

 

 
  

Land and 
 

Plant and 
 

Capital 
 

Mine 
 

 
  buildings  equipment  WIP  properties  Total 
Year ended 30 June 2018  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
           
Opening cost  39,713  72,863  396  149,712  262,684 
  

Additions  -  -  3,207  10,717                13,924 
Transfers between classes  30  854  (2,973)  2,089  - 
Disposals  -                   (127)  -  -                  (127) 

Net movement  30  727  234  12,806                13,797 
 

Closing cost 
 

39,743 
 

73,590 
 

630 
 

162,518 
 

276,481 

           
 

Opening accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

 

(11,549) 

 

          (65,532) 

 

- 

 

        (124,976) 

 

        (202,057) 
  

Depreciation charge  (934)               (6,244)  -            (31,105)            (38,283) 
Disposals  -  125  -  -                     125 

Net movement  (934)  (6,119)  -  (31,105)             (38,158) 

 
Closing accumulated depreciation and impairment 

 
(12,483) 

 
(71,651) 

 
- 

 
(156,081) 

 
         (240,215) 

           
Closing net carrying value  27,260                  1,939  630                  6,437               36,266 
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All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. Historical cost 
includes: 
  

●  expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items; 
●  direct costs associated with the commissioning of plant and equipment including pre-commissioning costs in testing the 

processing plant; 
●  where the asset has been constructed by the group, the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour on the project and 

project management costs associated with the asset; and 
●  the present value of the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located. 
  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance 
is charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
  

Buildings  units of production 
Plant and equipment  units of production 
Mining properties  units of production 
Office equipment  3-5 years 
Furniture and fittings  4 years 
Motor vehicles  4-5 years 
Software  2-3 years 
  
The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 
  

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. 
  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the statement 
of comprehensive income. 
  

(i) Deferred stripping costs capitalised 
Overburden and other mine waste materials removed during the initial development of an open pit mine in order to access the mineral 
deposit is referred to as development stripping. Costs directly attributable to development stripping inclusive of an allocation of 
relevant overhead expenditure, are capitalised as a non-current asset in mine properties. Capitalisation of development stripping costs 
cease at the time that ore begins to be extracted from the mine. Development stripping costs are amortised over the useful life of the 
ore body that access has been provided to on a units of production basis. 
 
Production stripping commences at the time that ore begins to be extracted from the mine and normally continues throughout the life 
of a mine. The costs of production stripping are charged to the income statement as operating costs, when the current ratio of waste 
material to ore extracted for a component of the ore body is below the expected stripping ratio of that component. When the ratio of 
waste to ore is not expected to be constant, production stripping costs are accounted for as follows: 
  
●  all costs are initially charged to profit or loss and classified as operating costs; 
●  when the current ratio of waste to ore is greater than the estimated ratio of a component of the ore body, a portion of the 

stripping costs, inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure, is capitalised to mine properties; and 
●  the capitalised stripping asset is amortised over the useful life of the ore body to which access has been improved. 
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(i) Deferred stripping costs capitalised (continued) 
 
The amount of production stripping costs capitalised or charged in a reporting period is determined so that the stripping expense for 
the period reflects the estimated strip ratio of the ore component. Changes to the estimated waste to ore ratio of a component of the 
ore body are accounted for prospectively from the date of change. Deferred stripping capitalised is included in mine properties. 
  
(ii) Mine properties 
Mine properties represent the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred by the group in 
relation to areas of interest for which the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources are 
demonstrable. 
 
When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a mine property after the commencement of production, such 
expenditure is carried forward as part of the mine property only when it is probable that the additional future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the group. Otherwise such expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production. Mine 
properties are amortised on a units of production basis over the economically recoverable resources of the mine concerned.  
 
Underground development commenced in January 2019 and continued up to 30 June 2019. As commercial production had not been 
achieved at period end, underground development expenditures continued being capitalised. Capitalised costs included depreciation 
expenses related to assets being used in underground development operations. 
 
Refer to note 16 for the group's accounting policy in relation to impairment of non-current assets. 
  

Note 15. Non-current assets - biological assets 
  
Biological assets comprise livestock acquired by Toongi Pastoral Company Pty Ltd as part of farming operations on the surrounding land 
to the Dubbo Project mining lease. 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Biological assets  402   526  

  

Note 16. Non-current assets - Impairment of non-current assets 
  

At each balance date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-current assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have been subject to an impairment charge or reversal of impairment charge. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent, if any, of the impairment charge or reversal. Where it 
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. The group considers the relationship between its market capitalisation and its book 
value among other factors, when reviewing for indicators for impairment. During the year and as at 30 June 2019, the market 
capitalisation of the company was below the book value of its net assets indicating a potential trigger for impairment of assets. 
  

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment charge is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. 
  

Where an impairment charge subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, not to exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment charge been 
recognised for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an impairment charge is recognised immediately in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
  

The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposing (FVLCD) and its value in use (VIU). FVLCD is the 
best estimate of the amount obtainable from the sale of a CGU in an arm's length transaction between knowledgeable willing parties, 
less the costs of disposal. This estimate is determined on the basis of best available market information taking into account specific 
conditions. 
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Gold cash generating unit 
The key assumptions which are used by the directors in determining the recoverable amount for the gold cash generating unit were as 
follows as at 30 June 2019: 
 

Assumptions Life of Mine 
Gold price $A $1,700 
Post-tax real discount rate 8% 

 

Commodity prices are estimated with reference to analysis performed by an external party and are updated at least once every six 
months, in-line with the group’s reporting dates. 
 
The directors and management have considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for other key assumptions and have not 
identified any instances that could cause the carrying amount of the Tomingley CGU to exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
The operational performance for the year was strong and above budget. Management are confident based on the strong geological 
understanding of the deposit that there is significant value for underground operations. The final investment decision on developing 
underground operations was made in September 2018, whilst open cut activities ceased in January 2019. Underground development 
has progressed well during the current period and remains on Budget.  

Note 17. Non-current assets - other financial assets 
  
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Security deposits  8,417   8,347  

  
The above deposits are held by financial institutions or regulatory bodies as security for rehabilitation obligations as required under the 
respective exploration and mining leases or as required under agreement totalling $8,417,000 for the current period (2018: $8,347,000 
backed by security deposits). 
  
All interest bearing deposits are held in Australian dollars and therefore there is no exposure to foreign currency risk. Please refer to 
note 26 for the group's exposure to interest rate risk. The fair value of other financial assets is equal to its carrying value. 
  

Note 18. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Trade payables  3,710   3,953  
Other payables  4,297   5,346  

     
  8,007   9,299  

  
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end of the financial period which 
are unpaid. Current trade and other payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables 
are presented in current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting date. 
 
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. 
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Note 19. Current liabilities - income tax provision 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Provision for income tax  -   6,929  

  

Note 20. Current liabilities - provisions 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Employee benefits  2,202   3,302  
Rehabilitation  1,591   5,249  
Restructuring  645   2,651  

     
  4,438   11,202  

  

(i) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation, it is probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised in finance charges. 
  

(ii) Information about individual provisions and significant estimates 
  
Employee benefits 
The provision for employee benefits relates to the group's liability for long service leave and annual leave. 
 
The current portion of this liability includes all of the accrued annual leave. The entire amount of the provision of $1,301,000 (2018: 
$1,803,000) is presented as current, since the group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these 
obligations. However, based on past experience, the group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or 
require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be taken or paid within the 
next 12 months.  
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Current leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months   646   257  

  

The liability for long service leave not expected to vest within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related service is recognised in the non-current provision for employee benefits and measured at the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided up to the end of the reporting period. Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the end of the reporting period on corporate bonds with terms and currencies that match as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. Where the group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any annual or long 
service leave owed, it is classified as a current provision regardless of when the group expects to realise the provision. 
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Restructuring provision 
The provision for restructuring relates to the group's liability for severance payments for the current open cut gold mining operations. 
 
The current provision represents restructuring amounts that are expected to be settled within 12 months of the end of the period in 
which the employees render the related service in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date and are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
The liability for restructuring benefits not expected to vest within 12 months after the end of the period is recognised in the non-current 
provision. Consideration is given to the expected employee turnover and other factors in determining the value of the restructuring 
benefits. The non-current provision has not been discounted to present value as the impact of discounting is not material. 
 
Rehabilitation and mine closure 
The group has obligations to dismantle and remove certain items of property, plant and equipment and to restore and rehabilitate the 
land on which they sit. 
 
A provision is raised for the estimated cost of settling the rehabilitation and restoration obligations existing at balance date, discounted 
to present value using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate. 
 
Where the obligation is related to an item of property, plant and equipment, its cost includes the present value of the estimated costs 
of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located. Costs that relate to obligations arising from waste 
created by the production process are recognised as production costs in the period in which they arise. 
 
The discounted value reflects a combination of management's assessment of the nature and extent of the work required, the future 
cost of performing the work required, the timing of cash flows and the discount rate. The increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time of $330,000 (2018: $460,000) was recognised in finance charges in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
The provisions are reassessed at least annually. A change in any of the assumptions used to determine the provisions could have a 
material impact on the carrying value of the provision. 
  

(iii) Movements in provisions 
Movements in rehabilitation and mine closure provision during the financial year are set out below: 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Rehabilitation and mine closure     
Opening balance  18,535   21,035  
Additional provision incurred  1,338   1,800  
Expenditure during the year               (5,909)               (7,517) 
Unwinding of discount  330   460  
Change in estimate  162   2,757  

     
  14,456   18,535  

  

Movements in restructuring provision during the financial year are set out below: 
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Restructuring provision     
Opening balance  2,694   2,965  
Additional provision incurred  321   142  
Redundancies paid  (2,370)  (413) 

     
  645   2,694  
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(iii) Movements in provisions (continued) 
 
Movements in employee benefits provision during the financial year are set out below: 
  

 

 

 
2019 

 

2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Employee benefits provision     
Opening balance  3,620   2,610  
Additional provision incurred  1,698   2,438  
Employee benefits paid  (2,922)  (1,428) 

     
  2,396   3,620  

  

Note 21. Non-current liabilities - provisions 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Employee benefits  194   318  
Rehabilitation  12,865   13,286  
Restructuring  -    43  

     
  13,059   13,647  

  
  

Refer note 20 for accounting policy on provisions. 
  

Note 22. Equity - issued capital 
  

  2019  2018  2019  2018 
  Shares  Shares  $'000  $'000 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  506,096,222  506,096,222  220,111   220,160  

  

Movements in ordinary share capital 
  

Details  Date  Shares  $'000 
       
Balance  1 July 2017  505,215,669  219,948 
Shares issued on vesting of performance rights *    570,553  199 
Share issue **    310,000  102 
Less: Transaction costs arising on share issues    -                      (5) 
Deferred tax credit recognised directly into equity    -                    (84) 

       
Balance  30 June 2018  506,096,222  220,160 
Less: Deferred tax credit recognised directly into equity    -                     (49) 

       
Balance  30 June 2019  506,096,222  220,111 

  

*  During the year no shares were issued (2018: 570,553 shares were issued on vesting of employee performance rights in relation 
to long term incentives issued by the company). 

**  During the year no shares were issued to key consultants of the company (2018: 310,000 shares were issued). 
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Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion to the 
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company does not have a 
limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have 
one vote. 
  

Note 23. Equity - reserves 
  

The following table shows a breakdown of the balance sheet line item ‘Reserves’ and the movements in these reserves during the year. 
A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve is provided below the table. 
  
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income reserve  151   -   
Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges                  (780)  -   
Share-based payments reserve  2,981   2,116  

     
  2,352   2,116  

  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income reserve 
The cash flow hedge reserve is used to recognise the effective portion of gains or losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify 
as cash flow hedges, as described in note 12. Amounts are subsequently either transferred to the initial cost of inventory or reclassified 
to profit or loss as appropriate. 
  

Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges 
The reserve is used to recognise the effective portion of the gain or loss of cash flow hedge instruments that is determined to be an 
effective hedge. 
  

Share-based payments reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of shares issued to directors and KMP, as well as the grant date fair value of 
deferred rights granted but not yet vested. 
  

Note 24. Equity - accumulated losses 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year             (31,880)             (56,351) 
Profit after income tax expense for the year                23,293   24,471  

     
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year               (8,587)              (31,880) 

  

Note 25. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual 
results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the group’s accounting policies.  
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Alkane Resources Ltd 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
30 June 2019 
 

  

Note 25. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 

  

  
44 

Carrying value of non-current assets 
Non-current assets include capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditures and mine properties. The group has capitalised 
significant exploration and evaluation expenditure on the basis either that such expenditure is expected to be recouped through future 
successful development (or alternatively sale) of the areas of interest concerned or on the basis that it is not yet possible to assess 
whether it will be recouped and activities are planned to enable that determination. 
  

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of factors, including whether 
the group decides to exploit the related lease itself, or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related exploration asset through 
sale. The future recoverability of mine properties is dependent on the generation of sufficient future cash flows from operations (or 
alternately sale). Factors that could impact the future recoverability of exploration and evaluation and mine properties include the level 
of reserves and resources, future technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates, future legal changes 
(including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices and exchange rates.  
  
Estimates of recoverable quantities of resources and reserves also include assumptions requiring significant judgment as detailed in 
the resource and reserve statements. 
  

An impairment review is undertaken to determine whether any indicators of impairment are present. The group has not 
recorded an impairment charge or reversal against either the gold operations or rare metals cash generating units in the current 
financial year. Refer to note 16 for details. 
  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment. The group reviews the useful lives of depreciable asset at each reporting 
date or when there is a change in the pattern in which the asset's future economic benefits are expected to be consumed, based on 
the expected utilisation of the assets. Depreciation and amortisation are calculated using the units of production method based on 
ounces of gold produced. 
  

Rehabilitation and mine closure provisions 
These provisions represent the discounted value of the present obligation to restore, dismantle and rehabilitate certain items of 
property, plant and equipment and to rehabilitate exploration and mining leases. The discounted value reflects a combination of 
management's assessment of the nature and extent of the work required, the future cost of performing the work required, the timing 
of cash flows and the discount rate. Changes to one or more of these assumptions is likely to result in a change to the carrying value of 
the provision and the related asset or a change to profit and loss in accordance with the group's accounting policy stated in note 20.  
  

Net realisable value and classification of inventory 
The group's assessment of the net realisable value and classification of its inventory requires the use of estimates, including the 
estimation of the relevant future commodity or product price, future processing costs and the likely timing of sale.  
  

Share-based payments 
The group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at 
the date at which they are granted. The fair value for share appreciation rights and performance rights component tranche 1 is 
determined with the assistance of an external valuer. The number of performance rights issued under the long term incentive plan 
tranche 2 component are adjusted to reflect management’s assessment of the probability of meeting the targets 
and service condition. The related assumptions are set out in note 35. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity 
settled share based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting 
period but may impact expenses and equity.  
  

Provision for restructuring costs 
Restructuring costs are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts 
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises restructuring costs when it is demonstrably committed to 
either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or 
providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Significant judgement is required in 
determining the probability of retention of employees. Refer note 20.  
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Income tax 
The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required in 
determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of 
business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit 
issues based on the consolidated entity's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 
  

In addition, the group has recognised deferred tax assets relating to carried forward tax losses to the extent there are sufficient taxable 
temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to the same taxation authority against which the unused tax losses can be 
utilised. Utilisation of the tax losses also depends on the ability of the entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped. 
Refer to note 5 for the current recognition of tax losses. 
 
Exploration and evaluation costs 
Exploration and evaluation costs have been capitalised on the basis that the consolidated entity will commence commercial production 
in the future, from which time the costs will be amortised in proportion to the depletion of the mineral resources. Key judgements are 
applied in considering costs to be capitalised which includes determining expenditures directly related to these activities and allocating 
overheads between those that are expensed and capitalised. In addition, costs are only capitalised that are expected to be recovered 
either through successful development or sale of the relevant mining interest. Factors that could impact the future commercial 
production at the mine include the level of reserves and resources, future technology changes, which could impact the cost of mining, 
future legal changes and changes in commodity prices.  
  

Where economic recoverable reserves for an area of interest have been identified, and a decision to develop has occurred, capitalised 
expenditure is classified as mine development. 
  

To the extent that capitalised costs are determined not to be recoverable in the future, they will be written off in the period in which 
the determination is made. 
  

Note 26. Financial risk management 
  

Financial risk management objectives 
The group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and interest rate 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The consolidated entity's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the consolidated entity. The group uses 
derivative financial instruments including gold forward and gold put option contracts to mitigate certain risk exposures. 
  

This note presents information about the group's exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.  
  

The Board of Directors' has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. Management 
monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the group through regular reviews of the risks and mitigating 
strategies.  
  

(a) Market risk 
  

(i)  Foreign currency risk 
The group's sales revenue for gold are largely denominated in US dollars and the majority of operating costs are denominated in 
Australian dollars, hence the group's cash flow is significantly exposed to movement in the A$:US$ exchange rate. The group mitigates 
this risk through the use of derivative instruments, including but not limited to a combination of Australian dollar denominated gold 
forward contracts and put options to hedge a portion of future gold sales. 
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(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 
The Australian dollar denominated gold forward contracts are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of physical delivery 
of gold bullion. As a result, the contracts are not recorded in the financial statements. Refer to notes 30 to 32 for further information.  
  

(ii)  Commodity price risk 
The group's sales revenues are generated from the sale of gold. Accordingly, the group's revenues are exposed to commodity price 
fluctuations, primarily gold. The group mitigates this risk through the use of derivative instruments, including but not limited to 
Australian dollar denominated gold forward contracts. 
  
(iii) Interest rate risk 
The group's main interest rate risk arises through its cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets held within financial 
institutions. The group minimises this risk by utilising fixed rate instruments where appropriate. 
  
Summarised market risk sensitivity analysis: 
  

  
  

*  The receivables balance excludes prepayments and tax balances which do not meet the definition of financial assets and liabilities. 
  

There is no exposure to foreign exchange risk or commodity price risk for the above financial assets and liabilities. 
  

(b) Credit risk 
The consolidated entity has adopted a lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade receivables through 
the use of a provisions matrix using fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. These provisions are considered representative across all 
customers of the consolidated entity based on recent sales experience, historical collection rates and forward-looking information that 
is available. 
  

In determining the recoverability of a trade or other receivable using the expected credit loss model, the group performs a risk analysis 
considering the type and age of the outstanding receivables, the creditworthiness of the counterparty, contract provisions, letter of 
credit and timing of payment. 
  

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to customers, 
including outstanding receivables and committed transactions.  
  

(i) Risk management 
The group limits its exposure to credit risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets by only utilising banks and 
financial institutions with acceptable credit ratings. 
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(ii) Credit quality 
Tax receivables and prepayments do not meet the definition of financial assets. The group assesses the credit quality of the customer, 
taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
  

(c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial liabilities as they fall due. The group's approach to managing 
liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the group's reputation. The Board of Directors' 
monitors liquidity levels on an ongoing basis. 
  

The group's financial liabilities generally mature within 3 months, therefore the carrying amount equals the cash flow required to settle 
the liability. 
  

Note 27. Capital risk management 
  

The group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of 
capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may return capital to shareholders, pay dividends to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets. 
  

Note 28. Key management personnel disclosures 
  

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of KMP of the consolidated entity is set out below: 
  
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Short-term employee benefits  1,703,206   1,947,075  
Post-employment benefits  112,400   117,797  
Long-term benefits  34,640   211,539  
Termination benefits  -    125,000  
Share-based payments  772,562   739,091  

     
  2,622,808   3,140,502  

  

Mr Wilkins is associated with DWCororate, a company which provided company secretarial services to the group throughout the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019. This fee is disclosed as short term employee benefits in the remuneration report.  
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Note 29. Remuneration of auditors 
 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the 
company: 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Audit services - PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Audit or review of the financial statements  174   195  

     
Other services - PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Other advisory services  61   222  

     
  235   417  

  

As part of final audit and review of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018, a one off additional fee of $28,500 (2018: 
$33,920) was approved by the Audit Committee and paid in the current financial year. 
  

Note 30. Contingent assets 
  

The group has entered into forward gold sales contracts which are not accounted for on the balance sheet. A contingent asset of $nil 
(2018: $233,000) existed at the balance date in the event that the contracts are not settled by the physical delivery of gold. Refer to 
the contingent liability disclosure note 31 for more information. 
  

Note 31. Contingent liabilities 
  

The group has entered into forward gold sales contracts which are not accounted for on the balance sheet. A contingent liability of 
$4,939,000 (2018: contingent asset of $233,000) existed at the balance date in the event the contracts are not settled by the physical 
delivery of gold. The movement from contingent asset to contingent liability is due to the significant increase in the AUD gold price 
during the latter part of the 2019 financial year.  
  
The group has contingent liabilities estimated up to the value of $5,650,000 for the potential acquisition of several parcels of land 
surrounding the Dubbo Project (30 June 2018: $5,650,000). The landholders have the right to require subsidiary Australian Strategic 
Materials Ltd to acquire their property as provided for in the development consent conditions for the Dubbo Project or under 
agreement with Australian Strategic Materials Ltd. 
  

An additional contingent liability of $1,710,000 (US$1.2m contingency converted at 30 June 2019 spot rate of 0.7015) existed at balance 
date relating to an agreement with South Korean company Ziron Technology to fund final stage research and feasibility relating to a 
clean metal process for the conversion of metal oxide to metals of high marketable purity. Several conditions precedent were 
outstanding at balance date and not fully under ASM’s control, resulting in a possible future obligation. Subsequent to 30 June 2019 
these conditions were satisfied and the payment has been made. 
  

Note 32. Commitments 
  

(a) Exploration and mining lease commitments 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration and mining tenements, the group will be required to outlay the amounts 
disclosed in the below table. These amounts are discretionary, however if the expenditure commitments are not met then the 
associated exploration and mining leases may be relinquished. 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Within one year  2,377   1,677  
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(b) Non-cancellable operating leases 
The group leases various premises under operating leases. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On 
renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. 
  

  2019  2018 

  $'000  $'000 

     

Within one year  289   413  

  

 
(c) Physical gold delivery commitments 
As part of its risk management policy, the group enters into derivatives including gold forward contracts and gold put options to manage 
the gold price of a proportion of anticipated gold sales.  
  

The gold forward sales contracts disclosed below did not meet the criteria of financial instruments for accounting purposes on the basis 
that they met the normal purchase/sale exemption because physical gold would be delivered into the contract. Accordingly, the 
contracts were accounted for as sale contracts with revenue recognised in the period in which the gold commitment was met. The 
balances in the table below relate to the value of the contracts to be delivered into by transfer of physical gold. 
  

  Gold for  Contracted  Value of 

 

 physical 
delivery 

 

gold sale price 

 committed 
sales 

30 June 2019  Ounces  per ounce ($)  $'000 
       
Fixed forward contracts       
Within one year  12,980  1,854  24,065 
One to five years  14,770  1,853  27,374 
  

30 June 2018       
       
Fixed forward contracts       
Within one year  4,000  1,750  6,999 
  

(d) Capital commitments 
Capital commitments committed for the year at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities amounted to $833,000 
(2018: $281,000). 
 

Note 33. Events after the reporting period 
  
Following execution of a binding agreement between Alkane's wholly owned subsidiary Australian Strategic Materials ('ASM') and South 
Korean technology company Zirconium Technology Corporation ('Ziron Tech'), ASM has made a payment of US$1.2m to Ziron Tech in 
July 2019. This payment will fund the final stage of research and feasibility into an environmentally superior and cost effective method 
of producing high purity metals compared to existing methods. Refer to the 'Dubbo Project' section of the 'Review of operations' for 
additional details. 
  

On 2 August 2019, the company executed a subscription agreement and an underwriting agreement with Genesis Minerals Ltd (ASX: 
GMD) ('Genesis') whereby the company may invest up to $6m in Genesis by subscribing for shares under an initial placement, 
participating in and underwriting an entitlement offer, and potentially by subscribing for additional shares in a secondary placement 
that is conditional on Genesis shareholder approval. Genesis is an Australian gold exploration and mine development company with 
high quality projects located in Western Australia’s premier gold districts.  
  

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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Note 34. Related party transactions 
  

Parent entity 
Alkane Resources Ltd is the parent entity of the group. 
  

Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 39. 
  

Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to KMP are set out in note 28 and the remuneration report included in the directors' report. 
  

Transactions with other related parties 
Nuclear IT, a director related entity, provides information technology consulting services to the group which includes the coordination 
of the purchase of information technology hardware and software totalling $65,400 for the current period (2018: $28,200). These terms 
are documented in a service level agreement and represent normal commercial terms. 
  

During the period nil fees (2018: $152,500) were paid to Mineral Administration Services (MAS) in which the former company secretary 
of the group, Ms K E Brown had a substantial financial interest.  
  

During the period fees amounting to $169,400 (2018: $43,000) were paid to DWCorporate Pty Ltd in which the current company 
secretary of the group, Mr D Wilkins has a substantial financial interest. DWCorporate Pty Ltd provides secretarial services to the group. 
Mr D Wilkins was appointed company secretary of the group on 29 March 2018. 
  

Related party payables 
As at 30 June 2019, committee fees totalling $22,917 remained payable to the group’s Chairman, Mr I J Gandel (2018: $10,417). 
 

Invoices totalling $16,500 were outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related party 
DWCorporate Pty Ltd, a company which provided company secretarial services to the group during the current period (2018: nil). 
  

Note 35. Share-based payments 
  
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the group's incentive plans. The incentive plans consist of short term 
and long term incentive plans for Executive Directors and other Executives and the employee share scheme for all other employees. 
Information relating to these plans is set out in the remuneration report and below. 
  
The fair value of rights granted under the short term and long term incentive plans is recognised as an employee benefits expense with 
a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the rights granted, 
which includes any market performance conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions but excludes the impact of any service 
and non-market performance vesting conditions. 
  

Non-market vesting conditions and the impact of service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of rights that are 
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting 
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of rights that are expected to 
vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the 
statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 
  

The initial estimate of fair value for market based and non-vesting conditions is not subsequently adjusted for differences between the 
number of rights granted and number of rights that vest. 
  

When the rights are exercised, the appropriate amount of shares are transferred to the employee. The proceeds received net of any 
directly attributable transaction costs are credited directly to equity. 
  

Under the employee share scheme, shares issued by the group to employees for no cash consideration vest immediately on grant date. 
On this date, the market value of the shares issued is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity. 
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The fair value of deferred shares granted to employees for nil consideration under the employee share scheme is recognised as an 
expense over the relevant service period, being the year to which the incentive relates and the vesting period of the shares. The fair 
value is measured at the grant date of the shares and is recognised in equity in the share-based payment reserve. The number of shares 
expected to vest is estimated based on the non-market vesting conditions. The estimates are revised at the end of each reporting period 
and adjustments are recognised in profit or loss and the share-based payment reserve. 
  

Executive directors and other executives 
The company’s remuneration framework is set out in the remuneration report, including all details of the performance rights and share 
appreciation rights plans, the associated performance hurdles and vesting criteria. 
 
Participation in the plans is at the discretion of the Board of Directors and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the 
plans or to receive any guaranteed benefits. Participation is currently restricted to senior Executives within the group. 
  
The determination of the number of rights that are to vest or be forfeited is made by the Remuneration Committee after the statutory 
audit has been substantially completed. As such, the actual determination was made after the balance date however details have been 
included in the tables below as the relevant performance period is the current financial year. 
 
The following tables illustrate the number and weighted average fair value of, and movements in, share rights during the year. 
  

  2019    2018   

 
 

Number of 
 Weighted 

average 
 

Number of 
 Weighted 

average 
Performance Rights  share rights  fair value  $  share rights  fair value  $ 
         
Outstanding at the beginning of the year  10,236,883  $0.26   2,866,795  $0.23  
Issued during the year  8,239,178  $0.08   11,395,156  $0.26  
Lapsed during the year  -  $0.00        (4,025,068)  $0.24  

Outstanding at the end of the year  18,476,061  $0.18   10,236,883  $0.26  
  

The number of Performance Rights to be granted is determined by the Remuneration Committee with reference to the fair value of 
each Performance Right which is generally the volume weighted average price for the month preceding the start of the performance 
period. This will differ from the fair value reported in the table above which is determined at the time of grant. 
  

  2019    2018   

 

 

Number of 

 Weighted 
average 

 

Number of  

 Weighted 
average 

Share Appreciation Rights  share rights  fair value $  share rights  fair value $ 
         
Outstanding at the beginning of the year  -  $0.00  11,467,187  $0.08  
Lapsed during the year  -  $0.00     (11,467,187)  $0.08  

Outstanding at the end of the year  -  $0.00      -  $0.00 
  

The number of Share Appreciation Rights (SAR) to be granted is determined by the Remuneration Committee with reference to the fair 
value of each SAR at the time performance targets are set. This will differ from the fair value reported in the table above which is 
determined at the time of grant. All SAR's lapsed in the prior period. 
  

The Performance Rights, which have non-market based hurdle conditions, have been valued using the Black-Scholes-Merton model to 
estimate the fair value at valuation date.  
 
The Performance Rights which have market based hurdle conditions, have been valued using a Monte Carlo simulation based model to 
test the likelihood of attaining the Total Shareholder Return hurdle. The Monte Carlo model incorporates the impact of this market 
based condition on the fair value of the rights. 
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Executive Directors and other Executives (continued) 
 
The following table lists the inputs to the models used. 
 

Grant date 

 

Performance hurdle 

 

Dividend yield 

 

Expected stock 
volatility 

 

Risk free rate 

 

Expected life  

 Weighted 
average share 
price at grant 

date 
    %  %  %  years  $ 
             
11/10/2017  Service condition and 

market condition 

 

- 

 

70%  

 

2.08%  

 

2.90  

 

0.25  
04/12/2017  Service condition and 

market condition 
 

- 
 

70%  
 

1.84%  
 

2.75  
 

0.24  
18/10/2018  Service condition and 

market condition 

 

- 

 

66% 

 

2.14% 

 

2.95 

 

0.22 
21/11/2018  Service condition and 

market condition 

 

- 

 

65% 

 

2.14% 

 

2.86 

 

0.22 
 

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions. 
 

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Performance rights  864,965   984,410  
Other share issues to KMP  -    102,300  

     
  864,965   1,086,710  

  
  
Note 36. Earnings per share 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Alkane Resources Ltd  23,293   24,471  

  

  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share  4.6  4.8 
Diluted earnings per share  4.5  4.8 
  

  Number  Number 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share  506,096,222  505,916,516 
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:     

Performance rights  13,287,556  6,949,594 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share  519,383,778  512,866,110 
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Note 37. Assets pledged as security 
  

As at the date of this report $8,417,000 (2018: $8,347,000) in deposits have been provided as security. Refer note 17 for details. 
  

On 21 December 2018, the working capital facility with Macquarie Bank Ltd was executed including the following securities: 
  

●  a security agreement requiring Alkane Resources Ltd and Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd to maintain minimum cash deposit 
balances of A$3,000,000 and A$5,000,000 respectively; and 

●  a parental guarantee provided by Alkane Resources Ltd and Tomingley Holdings Pty Ltd. 
  

No other assets were pledged as security in the year ended 30 June 2019 (2018: $nil). 
  
 

Note 38. Parent entity information 
  

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 
  

Statement of comprehensive income 
  

  Parent 
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Profit after income tax expense              22,513  8,346  

     
Total comprehensive income              22,664  8,346  
  

Balance sheet 
  
  Parent 
  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Total current assets  11,655   13,844  

     
Total assets  202,024   184,326  

     
Total current liabilities  2,108   8,554  

     
Total liabilities  5,203   10,985  

     
Equity     

Issued capital  220,111   220,160  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income reserve  151   -   
Share-based payments reserve  2,981   2,116  
Accumulated losses  (26,422)  (48,935) 

     
Total equity  196,821   173,341  

  

Determining the parent entity financial information 
The financial information for the parent entity has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as 
set out below. 
 

(i) Tax consolidation legislation 
Alkane Resources Ltd and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. Refer to 
note 5 for further details. 
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(ii) Share-based payments rights 
The grant by the company of rights to equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the group is treated as a 
capital contribution to that subsidiary undertaking. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant 
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding 
credit to equity. 
  

(iii) Investment in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity. 
  
Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2019 (2018: $nil). 
  

Note 39. Interests in subsidiaries 
  

The group's subsidiaries at 30 June 2019 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary 
shares that are held directly by the group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the group. 
The state of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business. 
  

    Ownership interest 
  Principal place of business /  2019  2018 
Name  State of incorporation  %  % 
       
Australian Zirconia Holdings Pty Ltd  Western Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Australian Strategic Materials Ltd  Western Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Tomingley Holdings Pty Ltd  New South Wales  100.00%   100.00%  
Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd  New South Wales  100.00%   100.00%  
Toongi Pastoral Company Pty Ltd  New South Wales  100.00%   100.00%  
  

Note 40. Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash from operating activities 
  

  2019  2018 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Profit after income tax expense for the year  23,293   24,471  
     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortisation  7,327   38,283  
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  7   2  
Share-based payments  865   1,087  
Non-cash finance charges  330   460  
Exploration costs provided for or written off  582   188  
Fair value adjustments to derivatives               (1,481)  -   
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Decrease in trade and other receivables  287   194  
Decrease/(increase) in inventories   14,392                (9,322) 
(Decrease)/increase in provision for income tax   (6,929)  6,845  
(Decrease) in trade and other payables               (2,452)               (8,725) 
Increase in deferred tax liabilities                 9,314                         - 
(Decrease)/increase in other provisions               (9,075)  847  
(Increase)/decrease in fair value of biological assets                  (244)  203  

     
Net cash from operating activities  36,216   54,533  
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Note 41. Significant accounting policies 
  

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out either in the respective notes or 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 
  

The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods 
and will also not affect the current or future periods. 
  

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
introduces new rules for hedge accounting and new impairment model for financial assets. The standard applies from 1 July 2018. 
 
The group has entered into gold forward and gold put option contracts to manage the gold price of a proportion of anticipated sales of 
gold. The put options contracts meet the definition of a derivative financial instrument, however the gold forward contracts do not 
meet the criteria of financial instruments for accounting purposes on the basis that they qualify for the normal purchase/sale exemption 
because physical gold would be delivered into the contract.  Accordingly, the group has concluded that the new guidance does not 
affect the classification and measurement of these gold forward contracts. 
 
From 1 July 2018, the group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

 those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss); and 

 those to be measured at amortised cost. 
 

The classification depends on the group’s business model for managing financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. For 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial 
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
The group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost 
and fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB 9, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 
 
Trade receivables 
The group applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for 
all trade receivables. Other current receivables and prepayments were previously presented together with trade receivables but are now 
presented as other financial assets at amortised cost (receivables) and other current assets (prepayments) in the balance sheet, to reflect 
their different nature.   
 
The group completed a detailed assessment of its financial assets as at 1 July 2018. Most of the requirements in AASB 139 for classification 
and measurement of the group’s financial assets were carried forward in AASB 9. Hence, the group’s accounting policy for financial assets 
did not change except for the application of new impairment rules.  
 
In determining the recoverability of a trade or other receivable using the expected credit loss model, the group performs a risk analysis 
considering the type and age of the outstanding receivables, the creditworthiness of the counterparty, contract provisions, letter of 
credit and timing of payment. 
 
The group has applied the new rules retrospectively from 1 July 2018, and no material provision for credit losses was required to be 
recognised in the current period ending 30 June 2019. 
 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
The AASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This replaces AASB 118 which covers contracts for goods and services 
and AASB 111 which covers construction contracts. The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control  
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AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 
 
of a good or service transfers to a customer – so a notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards. The standard 
permits a modified retrospective approach for the adoption. Under this approach entities will recognise transitional adjustments in 
retained earnings on the date of application (1 July 2018) without restating the comparative period. They will only need to apply the new 
rules to contracts that are not completed as of the date of initial application. 
 
Adoption of the new standard has had neither an impact on the timing of recognition, nor on the measurement of revenue in respect of 
the sale of goods. 
 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the group satisfies its performance obligations under its contract with the customer, 
by transferring such goods to the customer’s control. Control is generally determined to be when the customer has the ability to direct 
the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from that good. 
 

Bullion revenue is recognised at a point in time upon transfer of control to the customer. 
 

The group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the 
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. Accordingly, the group does not adjust transaction prices for the time value 
of money. 
 
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted 
AASB 16 Leases 
The group will adopt AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 Leases and for lessees eliminates the 
classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, right-of-use assets 
and corresponding lease liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis, while the lease liability is reduced by an allocation of each 
lease payment. In the earlier periods of the lease, the expense associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared 
to lease expenses under AASB 117. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. 
 
The group has elected to use the simplified transition approach as allowed under AASB 16 as well as apply the following practical 
expedients permitted by the standard: 

• reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous; 
• the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term less than 12 months as at 1 July 2019 as short-term leases; 
• the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease. 
 

The group has reviewed its contracts that were in place at 1 July 2019 or have been entered into since and determined that there are 
no long term operating leases. As a result, no impact on the current or prior reporting periods is expected upon adoption of AASB 16. 
 
There are no other standards that are yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the entity in its current or 
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 
 
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for for-
profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
  

Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial assets and liabilities 
which are measured at fair value. 
  

Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 
25. 
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Parent entity information 
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 38. 
  

Tax consolidated legislation 
  

Alkane Resources Ltd and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation.  
  

The head entity, Alkane Resources Ltd, and the controlled entities in the Tax Consolidated Group account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the Tax Consolidated Group continues to be a stand-alone 
taxpayer in its own right.  
  

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Alkane Resources Ltd also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and 
the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the Tax Consolidated 
Group.  
  

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully compensate Alkane 
Resources Ltd for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by Alkane Resources Ltd for any current tax receivable and 
deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to Alkane Resources Ltd under the tax 
consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly owned entities 
financial statements.  
  

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as current amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the group.  
  
Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Alkane Resources Ltd ('company' or 
'parent entity') as at 30 June 2019 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Alkane Resources Ltd and its subsidiaries 
together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'consolidated entity' or the 'group'. 
  

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity when the 
consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
  

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity. 
  

Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet respectively. 
  

Foreign currency translation 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Alkane Resources Ltd.’s functional and presentation currency. 
  
Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at financial year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Derivative financial instruments 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to 
their fair value at each reporting date. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 
 
Derivatives are classified as current or non-current depending on the expected period of realisation. 
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Cash flow hedges 
Cash flow hedges are used to cover the consolidated entity's exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to particular risks 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment which could affect profit or loss. The effective portion of the gain 
or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income through the cash flow hedges reserve in equity, whilst 
the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to equity are transferred out of equity and included in the 
measurement of the hedged transaction when the forecast transaction occurs. 
  

Cash flow hedges are tested for effectiveness on a regular basis both retrospectively and prospectively to ensure that each hedge is 
highly effective and continues to be designated as a cash flow hedge. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
amounts recognised in equity are transferred to profit or loss. 
  

If the hedging instrument is sold, terminated, expires, exercised without replacement or rollover, or if the hedge becomes ineffective 
and is no longer a designated hedge, the amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. 
  

Investments and other financial assets 
Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the initial 
measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Such assets are subsequently measured at either amortised 
cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on both the business model within which such 
assets are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset unless, an accounting mismatch is being avoided. 
  

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the consolidated 
entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. When there is no reasonable expectation of recovering part 
or all of a financial asset, its carrying value is written off. 
  

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include equity investments which the consolidated entity intends to 
hold for the foreseeable future and has irrevocably elected to classify them as such upon initial recognition. 
  

Impairment of financial assets 
The consolidated entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement of the loss allowance depends upon the 
consolidated entity's assessment at the end of each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument's credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable information that is available, without undue cost or effort 
to obtain. 
  

Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-month expected credit loss 
allowance is estimated. This represents a portion of the asset's lifetime expected credit losses that is attributable to a default event 
that is possible within the next 12 months. Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where it is determined that credit 
risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset's lifetime expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit 
loss recognised is measured on the basis of the probability weighted present value of anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of the 
instrument discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
  

For financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the loss allowance is recognised within other 
comprehensive income. In all other cases, the loss allowance is recognised in profit or loss. 
  

Impairment of non-financial assets 
The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a 'loss event') and that 
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated.  
  
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from 
the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
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Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the balance sheet. 
  

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
 

Earnings per share 
(i) Basic earnings per share 
  

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:  
●  the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares; by 
●  the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary 

shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares. 
  

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
  

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:  
  

●  the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity, and 
●  the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all 

dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
  

Rounding of amounts 
The company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that Corporations Instrument 
to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 
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In the directors' opinion: 

● the financial statements and notes set out on pages 22 to 59 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:

(a) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

(b) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the financial 
year ended on that date; and

● the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board as described in note 41 to the financial statements;

● there are reasonable grounds to believe that Alkane Resources Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the directors 

___________________________ 
N Earner 
Managing Director 

30 August 2019 
Perth 
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Independent auditor’s report 
To the members of Alkane Resources Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of Alkane Resources Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities 
(together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its financial
performance for the year then ended

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

What we have audited 
The Group financial report comprises: 

● the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2019
● the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended
● the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
● the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
● the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant

accounting policies
● the directors’ declaration.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. 

Our audit approach 
An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
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individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion 
on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management structure of the 
Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates. 

The Group produces gold from its Tomingley Gold operations, located in New South Wales. The Group is 
also currently undertaking exploration and evaluation activities at its Dubbo Project in New South Wales, 
and other smaller exploration projects outside of the Tomingley Gold and Dubbo operations. The 
accounting processes are structured around a group finance function at its head office in Perth. Our audit 
procedures were mostly performed at Group head office, along with visiting the Tomingley Gold 
operations. 

Materiality Audit scope Key audit matters 

● For the purpose of our audit
we used overall Group
materiality of $2.4m, which
represents approximately 1%
of the Group’s total assets.

● We applied this threshold,
together with qualitative
considerations, to determine
the scope of our audit and the
nature, timing and extent of
our audit procedures and to
evaluate the effect of
misstatements on the financial
report as a whole.

● We chose Group total assets
because, in our view, it is the
benchmark against which the
performance of the Group is
most commonly measured.

● We selected 1% based on our
professional judgement noting
that it is also within the range
of commonly acceptable asset
related thresholds.

● Our audit focused on where
the Group made subjective
judgements; for example,
significant accounting
estimates involving
assumptions and inherently
uncertain future events.

● During the audit the
engagement team undertook
the majority of its audit work
at the Group’s head office in
Perth as well as visiting the
Tomingley Gold operations.

● Amongst other relevant topics,
we communicated the following
key audit matters to the Audit
and Risk Committee:

− Estimate of rehabilitation
and mine closure provision

− Carrying value of property,
plant and equipment

● These are further described in
the Key audit matters section of
our report.
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a particular audit 
procedure is made in that context.  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Estimate of rehabilitation and mine closure 
provision 
(Refer to rehabilitation and mine closure provision in 
notes 20, 21 and Critical accounting judgements, 
estimates and assumptions in note 25 to the financial 
statements) [Current $1.6m; Non Current $12.9m] 

As a result of its mining and processing activities at 
Tomingley Gold, the Group incurs obligations to 
restore and rehabilitate the environment disturbed by 
its operations. Rehabilitation activities are governed by 
a combination of legislative requirements and the 
Group’s policies.  

We focussed on this matter as determining the 
provision for rehabilitation and mine closure requires 
the use of significant estimates and judgements by the 
Group in assessing the magnitude, nature and extent of 
rehabilitation work to be performed, and in 
determining: 

● the expected future cost of performing the
work

● the timing of when the rehabilitation activities
are expected to take place, and

● economic assumptions such as the discount
rate used to discount this estimate to net
present value.

We performed the following procedures, amongst 
others: 

● Evaluated the Group’s rehabilitation and
restoration cost forecasts including the
process by which they were developed and
tested the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of the discounted cash flows
prepared by the Group.

● Evaluated the competence of experts used by
the Group in calculating the nature and extent
of rehabilitation work required.

● Compared prior year planned rehabilitation
activities and estimated cost to the actual
activity and cost incurred for rehabilitation
work performed during the year and
investigated significant differences.

● Benchmarked key market related assumptions
including inflation rates and discount rates
against external market data.

● Evaluated the basis for cost estimations made
by management, in light of the budgets and
forecasts approved by the Board, and tested
on a sample basis the provision amount to
comparable data sourced from external
parties and management’s experts.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Carrying value of property, plant and 
equipment 
(Refer to Impairment of non-current assets in note 16 
to the financial statements) 

The Group has two cash generating units (CGUs), with 
impairment indicators existing at the Tomingley Gold 
CGU at 30 June 2019.  An impairment assessment was 
therefore performed for this CGU. 

We focused on this matter because: 

● the valuation techniques used to assess
impairment are complex and involve a large
number of inputs into the valuation models

● calculating the value of the CGU involves
significant judgement in estimating:

- forecast gold prices, production
quantities and production costs, and

- the discount rate used.

We performed the following procedures, amongst 
others: 

● Tested the logical integrity and mathematical
accuracy of the model used for calculation of
value of the CGU.

● Compared forecast production, operating and
capital cash outflows used in the valuation
model to the most up-to-date budgets and
business plans formally approved by the
Board.

● Evaluated the Group's historical ability to
forecast future cash flows by comparing
budgets with reported actual results for the
past three years.

● Compared total forecast production quantities
over the remaining life of the mine to the
Group’s latest published mineral reserves and
resources statement.

● Evaluated the competence and qualifications
of experts engaged to determine mineral
reserves and resources of the Group. We also
performed a reconciliation of reserves and
resources from 30 June 2018 to 30 June 2019
taking into account production in the period.

● Compared the forecast gold price and
discount rates used by the Group to those
based on independent market data.

● Assessed the Group’s consideration of the
sensitivity to a change in key assumptions that
either individually or collectively would be
required for assets to be impaired and
considered the likelihood of such a movement
in those key assumptions arising.

● Evaluated the adequacy of the financial
statement disclosures, including those
regarding the key estimates and assumptions,
in light of the requirements of Australian
Accounting Standards.F
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Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditor's report, the other information we 
obtained included the Directors' report and the Corporate directory. We expect the remaining other 
information to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our professional judgement 
to determine the appropriate action to take. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. F
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. 
This description forms part of our auditor's report. 

Report on the remuneration report 

Our opinion on the remuneration report 
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 10 to 20 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2019. 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Alkane Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2019 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration 
report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards.  

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial 
report 

This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of Alkane Resources Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2019 included on Alkane Resources Limited's web site.  The directors of the Company are 
responsible for the integrity of Alkane Resources Limited's web site.  We have not been engaged to report 
on the integrity of this web site.  The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report named above.  It 
does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the 
financial report. If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data 
communications they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report to confirm the 
information included in the audited financial report presented on this web site. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Helen Bathurst Perth 
Partner 30 August 2019 F
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